



Brogent Technologies Inc. 2017 Annual Shareholders' Meeting Minutes

Time: 9:00AM, Wednesday, May 31, 2017

Venue: No. 9, Fuxing 4th Road, Qianzhen District, Kaohsiung City (Assembly Hall, Building A, Brogent Technologies)

Total Outstanding Brogent shares: 44,243,977 shares

(434,000 non-voting right shares have been deducted.)

Total shares represented by shareholders present in person or by proxy: 27,124,417 shares

Percentage of shares held by shareholders present in person or by proxy: 61.30%

Chairman: Chung-Ming Huang, the Chairman of the Board of Directors

Presenters: Chih-Hung Ouyang (Director), Chin-Huo Huang (Director), Chun-Hao Cheng

(Director), Yi-Hsiang Huang (Independent Director), Shun-Jen Cheng (Independent Director), Yung-Liang Huang (Supervisor), Yi-Shun Chang (Auditor), Hui-Chuang Lin (CFO)

Recorder: Fei-Hsiu Hsu

The aggregate shareholding of the shareholders present in person or by proxy constituted a quorum. The Chairman called the meeting to order.

A. Chairman's Address (omitted)

B. Report Items

I: The 2016 Business Report is hereby submitted for review.

Please refer to Attachment 1 on page 13 of the Manual for the Business Report.

II: The 2016 Supervisors' Audit Report is hereby submitted for review.

Please refer to Attachment 2 of the Manual for the Supervisors' Audit Report.

III: The 2016 Report on Remuneration Distribution of Employees, Directors, and Supervisors is hereby submitted for review.

Explanation: Pursuant to Article 21 of the Company's Articles of Incorporation, if the Company has generated profits in the current year, five to fifteen percent of the profits shall be set aside for employee remuneration. The remuneration for Directors and Supervisors shall be no higher than two percent. The proposed employee remuneration is NT\$13,799,428 and the proposed remuneration for Directors and Supervisors is NT\$2,759,886; both shall be distributed in cash.

IV: The Private Placement Status Report is hereby submitted for review. Explanation: Placement status is as listed below:

Item	Date of Issue: Feb	ornary 06.	2015			
Types of Privately Placed	Ordinary shares					
Securities	Standary shares					
Date and number of shares	On December 19, 2014, the Shareholders' extraordinary meeting					
	passed the private placement of 6,000,000 ordinary shares issued					
meeting	in one tranche within one year of the date of resolution.					
	The pricing criter					
	shares resolved in					
	December 19, 20					
	Because the priva					
Pricing criteria and	private placement	reference	price, CPA Shu	ın-Fa Hsu	from	
rationality	Deloitte & Touch	e was requ	ested to produc	e a private	placement	
-	price rationality in					
	2014. This confor	ms to the i	egulation of pu	ıblic issuir	ng companies	
	regarding the tern	ns and con	dition of privat	e placeme	nt securities;	
	therefore, the price					
Method of selecting	Limited to the des		•			
designated party	and other relevant	t provision	s of the Securit	ties and Ex	change Act.	
	The current private					
	investors through					
Necessary reason for	structure, product			_		
private placement	with publicly plac					
	be transferred free	•	•	_		
	ensures the long-t	-	ration between	the Comp	any and	
	placement subscri	ibers.				
Date of Payment	2015.01.05					
Completion		ı			l s	
	Private	a	Number of	I	Participation	
Subscriber information	placement	Criteria	shares	with the	in corporate	
	subject		subscribed	Company	management	
	Ruentex		1 000 000	None	None	
	Development		1,800,000			
	Co., Ltd.					
	Ruentex Industries Ltd.		1,800,000	None	None	
	Changchun Investment Co.,	Conforms	1,555,000	None	None	
	Ltd.	to Article				
	Chihping	43-6 of	200,000	None	None	
	Investment Co.,	the				
	Ltd.	Securities				
	Yong-Fang	and				
	Chiang	Exchange	6,000	None	None	
	Sheng-Yu Hsu	Act	6,000	None	None	
	Shou-Jen Chen		28,000	None	None	
	Ling-Chung					
	Meng		7,000	None	None	
	Shun-Long Chen		123,000	None	None	
	Kuo-Ming Lu		6,000	None	None	
I	6	j		1 -	· -	

	Deng-Chih Chang		6,000	None	None
	Shu-Feng Yeh		6,000	None	None
	Shu-Ming Liu		6,000	None	None
	Bi-Yang Tsai		37,000	None	None
	Hua-Tong Chao		18,000	None	None
	Chun-Hsiang Wu		18,000	None	None
	Kuo-Song Chan		3,000	None	None
	Tong-Hui Lin		18,000	None	None
	Cheng-Cheng		1,000	None	None
	Liu Chih-Tsang Lu		6,000	None	None
	Chih-Chuan Chen		22,000	None	None
	Chen-Wei Mah		20,000	None	None
	Cheng-Chuan Chen		22,000	None	None
	Chih-Fan Wang		22,000	None	None
	Chuan-Thai Cheng		22,000	None	None
	Chong-Hsian Liu		22,000	None	None
	Dah-Meng Tseng		22,000	None	None
	Fan-Wen Meng		22,000	None	None
	Long-Yeh Chuo		22,000	None	None
	Chih-Chang Hsu		22,000	None	None
	Shih-Hsun Lai		22,000	None	None
	Shih-Ning Dong		44,000	None	None
	Chang-Cheng Chien		22,000	None	None
	Chih-Hong Li		22,000	None	None
	Ming-Chun Chen		22,000	None	None
Actual subscription (or conversion) price	NT\$240.			-	
Actual subscription (or conversion) price and difference with reference price	No difference.				
Effect of private placement on shareholder's equity	The current private funds to strengther promotion, attract growth, thus benef	n financia long-term	l structure, f n partners, an	acilitate opend promote	eration stable business
Status of private placement fund spending and project	All funds have been received and will be successively utilized following planning completion.				

implementation progress	
Manifestation of private placement benefits	Not applicable.

Item	Date of Issue: July	06, 2015			
Types of Privately Placed Securities	Ordinary shares				
Date and number of shares passed in the shareholders' meeting	On June 11, 2014, the annual shareholders' meeting passed the private placement of 3,300,000 ordinary shares, which shall take place in one or multiple tranches (no more than twice) within a year starting from the date of resolution.				
Pricing criteria and rationality	The pricing criterion for the issuance of privately placed ordinary share resolved in the annual shareholders' meeting on June 11, 2014, was no less than 80% of the reference price. This conforms to regulations governing public issuing companies regarding the terms and condition of private placement securities; therefore, the price should be deemed reasonable.				
Method of selecting designated party	Not applicable.				
Necessary reason for private placement	Compared with publicly placed securities, privately placed securities may not be transferred freely within three years, and such regulation ensures the long-term cooperation between the Company and placement subscribers. Moreover, in consideration of the timeliness and convenience of financing requirements and other factors such as capital market uncertainty, the issuance of ordinary share was conducted through private placement in lieu of public offering.				
Date of Payment	2015.06.03				
Completion Subscriber information	Private placement subject	Criteria	Number of shares subscribed	with the	Participation in corporate management
	Kodasha Custody Account at Taipei Fubon Financial Bank		250,000	None	None
	Gains Investment Corporation	Conforms to Article 43-6 of	500,000	None	None
	Shang Yang Investment Corporation	the Securities and	100,000	None	None
	Chao Yang Investment Corporation	Exchange Act	100,000	None	None
	Cheng-Chien Pu		50,000	None	None
	Ming-Chu Kuo		30,000	None	None
Actual subscription (or conversion) price	NT\$308.				
Actual subscription (or conversion) price and difference with reference price	No difference.				

Effect of private placement on shareholder's equity	The current private placement funds are utilized as operational funds to strengthen financial structure, facilitate operation promotion, attract long-term partners, and promote stable business growth, thus benefiting shareholders' rights and interests.
1	All funds have been received and will be successively utilized following planning completion.
Manifestation of private placement benefits	Not applicable.

c. Ratifications

- Item 1: The 2016 Business Report and Financial Report are hereby submitted for ratification. (Proposed by the Board of Directors)
- Explanation: 1.The Company's 2016 Financial Report has been audited by CPAs Yielson Chang and Jay Lo of Grant Thornton Taiwan. The Financial Report and Business Report have been forwarded to the Supervisors for review, and the written Audit Report is submitted for approval.
 - 2.The Company's 2016 Business Report (please refer to Attachment 1 of the Manual) and Financial Report (please refer to Attachment 3 of the Manual).
 - 3. The reports are hereby submitted for ratification.

Resolution: RESOLVED, that the 2016 Business Report and Financial Statements be and hereby were accepted as submitted.

Item 2: The 2016 Earnings Distribution Proposal is hereby submitted for ratification. (Proposed by the Board of Directors)

- Explanation: 1.The Company's net profit after tax in 2016 amounted to NT\$101,353,992, of which 10% (NT\$10,135,399) has been set aside as the legal reserve. The distributable profits available as of the end of 2016 amounted to NT\$164,431,956. According to Article 22 of the Company's Articles of Incorporation, a cash dividend of NT\$2.5 per share is proposed for the current year and the total cash dividend to be distributed is NT\$110,609,943. The cumulative undistributed profits at the end of the period is NT\$53,822,013.
 - 2. The Board of Directors shall be authorized to separately establish a record date and issuance date etc. following the resolution of the Annual Shareholders Meeting.
 - 3.In the event the numbers of shares outstanding are subsequently affected by changes in the Company's share capital or other reasons, resulting in the necessity to revise the shareholder's payout ratio, the shareholders shall be requested to authorize the Board of Directors at the Annual Shareholders Meeting to conduct such revision at its full discretion.
 - 4. The Company's 2016 Earnings Distribution Table is as follows:

Unit: NT\$

Item	Sub Total	Total
Unappropriated Retained Earnings of Previous Years	72,734,094	
Plus: Net Income of 2016	101,353,992	
Subtotal		174,088,086
Less: Legal Reserve	(10,135,399)	
Plus: Actuarial gain from defined benefit plans	479,269	
		164,431,956
Distribution Item:		
Cash Dividends to Common Share Holders(NT\$2.5 Per Share)	(110,609,943)	
Unappropriated Retained Earnings		53,822,013

5. The table is hereby submitted for ratification.

Resolution: RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.

Matters for Discussion (1)

- Item 1: The amendment of clauses of the Articles of Incorporation is hereby submitted for discussion. (proposed by the Board of Directors)
- Explanation: 1.To implement corporate governance, amendments for clauses of the Company's Articles of Incorporation are proposed.
 - 2.Please refer to Attachment 4 of the Manual for the Comparison Table of the "Articles of Incorporation" before and after revision.
 - 3. Submitted for discussion.
- Resolution: RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.
- Item 2: The amendment of clauses of the Company's "Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal of Assets" is hereby submitted for discussion. (proposed by the Board of Directors)
- Explanation: 1.Amendment of clauses of the Company's "Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal of Assets" are proposed in accordance with the provisions specified in Letter Jing-Guan-Zheng-Fa-Zi No. 1060001296 of the Financial Supervisory Commission dated February 9, 2017.
 - 2.Please refer to Attachment 5 of the Manual for the Comparison Table of the "Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal of Assets" before and after revision.
 - 3. Submitted for discussion.
- Resolution: RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.
- Item 3: The amendment of clauses of the "Guidelines for the Election of Directors and Supervisors" is hereby submitted for discussion. (proposed by the Board of Directors)
- Explanation: 1.To adjust for the comprehensiveness of the Guidelines, amendments are proposed for clauses of the Company's "Guidelines for the Election of Directors and Supervisors."
 - 2.Please refer to Attachment 6 of the Manual for the Comparison Table of the "Guidelines for the Election of Directors and Supervisors" before and after revision.
 - 3. Submitted for discussion.
- Resolution: RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.

Votes

- Proposal: A vote is hereby called for the comprehensive reelection of Directors and Supervisors. (proposed by the Board of Directors)
- Explanation: 1.The terms of the Company's current Directors and Supervisors shall reach three years on June 10, 2017 and a reelection shall be held at this Shareholders Meeting in accordance with regulations.
 - 2.According to Article 14 of the Company's Articles of Incorporation. This election will result in seven Directors (including two Independent Directors based on a candidate nomination system) and three Supervisors.
 - 3.The Directors and Supervisors elected today shall serve a term of three years from May 31, 2017 to May 30, 2020. The terms of the original Directors and Supervisors shall expire upon the completion of the election in this Annual Shareholders Meeting.
 - 4.According to Article 14 of the Company's Articles of Incorporation, Independent Directors are elected on a candidate nomination system. The list of candidates for Independent Directors has been reviewed and approved in the Board of Directors meeting on April 19, 2017 and the related information is as follows:

Name	Ching-Wen Chuang					
Education	PhD, Control Group, Institute of Electrical Engineering, National					
	Sun Yat-sen University					
	Bachelor of Electrical Engineering, National Sun Yat-sen					
	University					
Experience	Dean of the College of Electrical and Information Engineering,					
	I-Shou University					
	Professor of the Department of Electrical Engineering, I-Shou					
	University					
	Secretary of the Office of Academic Affairs and Chief of					
	Registration Section, I-Shou University					
	Secretary of the Office of Academic Affairs, I-Shou University					
	Chair of the Department of Electrical Engineering, I-Shou					
	University					
	Associate Professor of the Department of Electrical Engineering,					
	I-Shou University					
	Associate Professor of the Department of Electrical Engineering,					
	Kao Yuan Junior College of Technology and Commerce					
	Manager of International Department, GEM Services, Inc.					
	Manager of Engineering Department, Utitech Technology Co.,					
	Ltd.					
Number of	0 shares					
shares held						

Name	Shun-Jen Cheng
Education	PhD in Business Studies, Manuel L.Q University
	Doctoral Seminar in Institute of Technology & Innovation
	Management, Chung Hua University
	MA in Business Studies, New York St. John University
	Department of Statistics, Tunghai University (minor in business
	administration)
Experience	Consultant at Kaohsiung City Government
	Vice President, Cheng Shiu University
	Institute of Business Administration, Cheng
	Shiu University (Fu-Zi No. 038585)
	Dean of the Office of International Affairs,
	Cheng Shiu University
	Visiting Professor, Zhejiang Shuren
	University
	Visiting Professor, Southwest Jiaotong
	University
	Visiting Professor, East China University of
	Technology
	2011 Visiting Professor, School of
	International Studies, Peking University
	Visiting Professor, New England College
	Executive Editor, Journal of Management &
	Statistic Decision [ISSN 1814-9073]
	Editor, Journal of Intelligence and
	Innovation [ISSN1995-8293]
Number of	0 shares
shares held	

- 5. The election is conducted based on the Company's "Guidelines for the Election of Directors and Supervisors."
- 6. Submitted for election.

Election Results:

Directors:

Name	Votes Received
Chih-Hung Ouyang	35,059,936
Chih-Chuan Chen, representative of	26,165,225
Changchun Investment Co., Ltd	20,103,223
Chung-Ming Huang	24,807,806
Chin-Huo Huang	22,853,039
Chun-Hao Cheng	22,853,039

Independent Directors:

Name	Votes Received
Ching-Wen Chuang	22,534,037
Shun-Jen Cheng	15,398,581

Supervisors

Name	Votes Received
Yi-Hsiang Huang	24,238,809
Yung-Liang Huang	24,238,809
Ken-Huang Lin	24,238,809

Matters for Discussion (2)

Proposal:The proposal for lifting the ban on competition between newly elected Directors and their representatives is hereby submitted for discussion. (proposed by the Board of Directors)

- Explanation: 1.Pursuant to Article 209 of the Company Act, a Director who acts for himself or on behalf of another person within the scope of the Company's business operations shall explain to the meeting of shareholders the essential contents of such act and obtain approval.
 - 2.To make use of the expertise and related experience of the Company's Directors, the lift of the ban on competition between newly elected Directors and their representatives is hereby submitted for approval in the 2017 Annual Shareholders Meeting in accordance with the law.
 - 3. Submitted for discussion.

Resolution: RESOLVED, that the above proposal be and hereby was approved as proposed.

Special motions

There being no other business and special motion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the meeting was adjourned.

Meeting adjourned at 9:22 AM Wednesday, May 31, 2017.

Brogent Technologies Inc. Business Report

1) Operating policies

Brogent's operating strategy is based on international expansion from Taiwan and active development of the international market to increase brand recognition. Under the guidance of such policies, Brogent has successfully entered the European, Asian, and American markets in 2016 and shall actively pursue opportunities in the Chinese market in 2017. Brogent has continuously received purchase orders from Mainland China which demonstrate the momentum for its sustainable growth in the future.

2) Business Plan Implementation Results:

The Company's net operating revenue in 2016 amounted to NT\$881.67 million, an increase of approximately 25% from the net operating revenue of NT\$705.424 million in 2015. The Company's net profit in the current period amounted to NT\$104.302 million, a 13.4% reduction from NT\$120.388 million in 2015.

3) Operating Income and Budget Execution

(1) Operating income

The categories of operating income in 2016 included income from projects, labor, and other operations, and the total amount was NT\$881.67 million, a growth of NT\$176.124 million from the NT\$705.424 million in 2015. The primary reason was the record number of received orders which grew at a rate of 46%, resulting in the increase of total revenue for the year from the previous year.

(2) Operating expenses

Total operating expenses in 2016 amounted to NT\$336.429 million, an increase of NT\$132.88 million from the NT\$203.549 million of 2015. The primary reasons were the establishment of subsidiary companies in 2015, active participation in foreign exhibitions, and initiatives taken to increase consumer awareness of Brogent products, all of which were carried out in response to Company development. These expenditures resulted in the substantial increase of consolidated management and marketing expenses for the Group in 2016 compared to 2015.

4) Profitability analysis

The Company continued to expand its scale of operations and diversification in 2016. Despite an increase in revenue, the increase in the cost of the establishment of subsidiary companies and related operating expenses to facilitate the implementation of the Group's overall strategy has caused the operating expense ratio to increment from 28.85% in 2015 to 38.17%. Operating profits on the other hand decreased by 16.8% from 2015 and net profit after tax decreased by 13.4% from 2015. However, as talent cultivation nears completion and international recognition of the brand and numbers of purchase orders continue to rise, profitability is expected to gradually increase throughout the year 2017.

5) Research and development

The Company continues to provide customers with the best services, create joyful experiences, and maximize value for shareholders with its unique, industry-leading research and development capabilities. Despite an increase of approximately 51% in

research and development expenses in 2016, the Company shall continue to innovate and remain committed to research and development because these aspects of operation embody corporate competitiveness. The Company shall continue to engage in advanced technological R&D and innovative applications, and implement product-centric design and research as well as systematic management to maintain the leading position of products and technologies. At the same time, the Company shall seek to reduce and monitor R&D expenditure through industrial-academic collaboration and government funded project subsidies.

董事長: | | | | | | | |

總經理:

遙 高 島

會計主管:



Brogent Technologies Inc. Supervisors' Audit Report

The 2016 Financial Statements compiled and delivered by the Board of Directors have been audited by Yielson Chang and Jay Lo, certified public accountants practicing at Grant Thornton Taiwan. The Financial Statements, along with the Business Report and Earnings Distribution Table, have been reviewed by the Supervisors who have found them to be compliant with regulations. The Audit Report is therefore provided in accordance with the provisions stipulated in Article 219 of the Company Act and filed for approval.

To

2017 Annual Shareholders Meeting of Brogent Technologies Inc.

Brogent Technologies Inc.

Supervisor: Chun-Nan Chen



Supervisor: Yung-Liang Huang



March 19, 2017

REPRESENTATION LETTER

The entities that are required to be included in the combined financial statements of Brogent Technologies Inc. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, under the Criteria Governing the Preparation of Affiliation Reports, Consolidated Business Reports and Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliated Enterprises are the same as those included in the consolidated financial statements prepared in conformity with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers, and International Financial Reporting Standards No.10, "Consolidated Financial Statements." In addition, the information required to be disclosed in the combined financial statements is included in the consolidated financial statements. Consequently, Brogent Technologies Inc. and Subsidiaries do not prepare a separate set of combined financial statements.

Very truly yours,

BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC.

Ву

HUANG, CHUNG-MING

Chairman March 14, 2017



高雄所

80661 高雄市前鎮區中山二路91號13樓之2,之3 TEL: +886 7 537 2589 FAX: +886 7 537 3589

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Brogent Technologies Inc.

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brogent Technologies Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Group"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission in Taiwan, the Republic of China.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and generally accepted auditing standards in Taiwan, the Republic of China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of Taiwan, the Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Key audit matters in this auditors' report are stated as follows:

Impairment of Accounts Receivable

Whether accounts receivable are impaired is subject to management's subjective judgment by determining the recoverable amount of overdue receivables with credit risk. The carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and bad debts are recognized by reference to the assessment of the customers' credit quality. Therefore, we focus on the receivables with significant delays in the collection, and the reasonableness of bad debts recognized by management.

Grant Thornton Taiwan is certified to the ISO 9001:2008 Quality Management
System Standards in "Provision of assurance, tax business compliance and advisory services".
Grant Thornton Taiwan is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (Grant Thornton International).

The Group's main business is the design, production and sales of the simulation entertainment equipment. In the past two years, the construction contract revenue accounts for more than 92% of the annual net revenue. The carrying amount of accounts receivable at the end of 2016 accounts for approximately 15% of current assets. The amount is significant and is the main cash flows provided by the operating activities of the Group. These involve the identification and subjective judgment for the construction contract, so it has been identified as a key audit matter.

Please refer to Note 4(16) to the consolidated financial statements for its accounting policy. For the carrying amount of accounts receivable, please refer to Note 6(4) to the consolidated financial statements.

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included to obtain the aging analysis of accounts receivable, calculate the aging interval, and sample the original vouchers to examine whether the receivables in the aging analysis table have been listed in the appropriate period; sample and deliver confirmation requests; test the collection after the reporting period to evaluate the reasonableness of allowance for impairment losses of accounts receivable; and obtain the assessment documents of allowance for doubtful receivables to examine whether it is in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, and review the reasonableness of related disclosures made by management.

Construction Contracts - Total Cost Estimates and the Recognition of the Stage of Completion

The Group estimates total costs of the construction contract for each project and measures the stage of completion according to the proportion of actual construction working hours to recognize its revenue and costs of the construction contract, which is the Group's main business. Total estimated costs, total estimated working hours required and actual working progress of the contract involve the effective implementation of the project contract and management's subjective judgment, which contain uncertainty for accounting estimates. Considering that the recognition of the Group's construction contract revenue and costs has a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements, so it has been identified as a key audit matter.

Please refer to Note 4(8) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policy about construction contracts. For net amount for the construction contract and the recognition of revenue and costs, please refer to Notes 6(5) and 6(22) to the consolidated financial statements.

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included to evaluate whether the project construction contract is established in accordance with its relevant internal control operations; obtain the project cost list and project schedule to examine whether total cost and working hours are reasonably estimated based on management's accumulated experience and the current optimal situation; review expected changes of significant estimates; sample the original vouchers to examine whether the actual construction costs incurred have been listed in the appropriate period; confirm whether the actual stage of completion of the project plan has been reviewed by the appropriate authorized personnel and whether the construction schedule has been met; and evaluate the reasonableness of revenue and costs recognized according to the proportion of actual working progress.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets

The value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is the future recoverable amount generating from related assets which have not been depreciated or amortized under the situation of management's continued operation. Management should evaluate whether there is any indication that above assets may be impaired on each balance sheet date. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset should be estimated. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, management should estimate the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Whether assets have been impaired and the calculation of the amount of the impairment loss involve a lot of assumptions and accounting estimates, so we focus on the Group's compliance with IAS 36 and confirm whether the carrying amount of above assets does not exceed the recoverable amount.

Please refer to Notes 4(10), (11) and (12) to the consolidated financial statements for its accounting policies. For the carrying amount of related assets, please refer to Notes 6(10) and (11) to the consolidated financial statements.

In relation to the key audit matter above, our principal audit procedures included to understand the design and implementation of the method of assessing impairment and its relevant control system; and obtain the impairment assessment made by management on the basis of the cash-generating unit, and consult with our internal experts to verify the reasonableness of the identification of the impairment and the appropriateness of assumptions used, including cash-generating unit division, cash flow forecast, discount rate, etc.

Other Matters - Individual Financial Statements

We have also audited the parent company only financial statements of Brogent Technologies Inc. as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 on which we have issued an unmodified opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers, IFRS, IAS, IFRIC, and SIC endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission in Taiwan, the Republic of China, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance, including supervisors, are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Taiwan, the Republic of China, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Taiwan, the Republic of China, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- 1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- 2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- 3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- 4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- 5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieve fair presentation.

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton

March 14, 2017

Kaohsiung, Taiwan

(File No. B002.17F0014)

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are not intended to present the consolidated financial position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than in Taiwan, the Republic of China. The standards, procedures and practices in Taiwan, the Republic of China governing the audit of such financial statements may differ from those generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than in Taiwan, the Republic of China. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements and independent auditors' report are not intended for use by those who are not informed about the accounting principles or auditing standards generally accepted in Taiwan, the Republic of China, and their applications in practice.

As the financial statements are the responsibility of the management, Grant Thornton cannot accept any liability for the use of, or reliance on, the English translation or for any errors or misunderstandings that may derive from the translation.

BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 (In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

	December 31, 2016		December 31, 2015	
Items	Amount	%	Amount	%
Current Assets				
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6(1))	\$482,221	14.65	\$703,135	22.33
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss-current (Note 6(2))	135,675	4.12	128,671	4.09
Debt investments with no active market-current (Note 6(3))	533,600	16.22	719,952	22.87
Notes receivable	-	-	66,647	2.12
Accounts receivable, net (Note 6(4))	312,405	9.49	204,417	6.49
Accounts receivable-related parties, net (Notes 6(4) and 7)	25,681	0.78	3,095	0.10
Construction receipts receivable (Note 6(5))	279,410	8.49	138,140	4.39
Income tax assets	36	-	-	-
Inventories (Note 6(6))	150,343	4.57	142,992	4.54
Prepayments	156,400	4.75	151,858	4.82
Other current assets (Notes 6(12) and 8)	163,123	4.96	83,023	2.64
Total current assets	2,238,894	68.03	2,341,930	74.39
Noncurrent Assets				
Held-to-maturity financial assets- noncurrent (Note 6(7))	33,900	1.03	-	-
Financial assets carried at cost - noncurrent (Note 6(8))	25,356	0.77	-	-
Investments accounted for using equity method (Note 6(9))	6,640	0.20	-	-
Property, plant and equipment (Notes 6(10) and 8)	804,714	24.45	557,047	17.70
Intangible assets (Note 6(11))	149,155	4.53	13,987	0.44
Deferred income tax assets (Note 6(25))	5,513	0.17	1,177	0.04
Refundable deposits (Note 7)	9,129	0.28	9,633	0.31
Long-term notes and accounts receivable (Note 6(4))	-		16,368	0.52
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 6(12), 7 and 8)	17,543	0.54	207,896	6.60
Total noncurrent assets	1,051,950	31.97	806,108	25.61
Total Assets	\$3,290,844	100.00	\$3,148,038	100.00

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

(Continued)

BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

	December 31	, 2016	December 31	, 2015
Items	Amount	%	Amount	%
Current Liabilities	DOMESTIC OF THE PARTY OF THE PA			
Short-term loans (Note 6(13))	\$20,000	0.61	\$-	-
Notes payable	90,630	2.75	38,653	1.23
Accounts payable	73,861	2.25	27,047	0.86
Accounts payable-related parties (Note 7)	-	-	8,496	0.27
Construction receipts payable (Note 6(5))	5,735	0.18	164,144	5.21
Other payables (Note 6(14))	77,786	2.36	66,686	2.12
Other payables-related parties (Note 7)	_	-	150	0.01
Income tax payable	13,290	0.40	19,180	0.61
Long-term liabilities-current portion (Note 6(15))	21,681	0.66	238,060	7.56
Other current liabilities	4,287	0.13	4,176	0.13
Total current liabilities	307,270	9.34	566,592	18.00
Noncurrent Liabilities				
Long-term bank loans (Note 6(15))	329,216	10.00	80,564	2.56
Net defined benefit liabilities-noncurrent (Note 6(16))	7,172	0.22	7,576	0.24
Total noncurrent liabilities	336,388	10.22	88,140	2.80
Total Liabilities	643,658	19.56	654,732	20.80
Equity Attributable To Shareholders of the Parent				
Capital stock				
Common stock (Note 6(17))	446,780	13.58	446,780	14.19
Capital surplus				
Additional paid-in capital	1,793,826	54.51	1,793,826	56.98
From convertible bonds	249,244	7.57	249,244	7.92
From treasury stock	9,566	0.29	-	-
From share of changes in equities of associates and joint venture	33	-	17_	
Total capital surplus (Note 6(18))	2,052,669	62.37	2,043,087	64.90
Retained earnings				
Legal reserve	37,115	1.13	25,877	0.82
. Special reserve	751	0.02	-	-
Unappropriated earnings (Note 6(19))	173,816	5.29	194,582	6.18
Total retained earnings	211,682	6.44	220,459	7.00
Other equity	(1,605)	(0.05)	684	0.02
Treasury stock (Note 6(20) and (21))	(115,476)	(3.51)	(266,072)	(8.45
Equity Attributable To Shareholders Of The Parent	2,594,050	78.83	2,444,938	77.66
Noncontrolling Interests	53,136	1.61	48,368	1.54
Total Equity	2,647,186	80.44	2,493,306	79.20
Total Liabilities and Equity	\$3,290,844	100.00	\$3,148,038	100.00

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 (In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings per Share)

	2016		2015	
Items	Amount	%	Amount	%
Net Revenue (Notes 6(22) and 7)	\$881,670	100.00	\$705,424	100.00
Cost of Revenue (Notes 6(24) and 7)	(436,733)	(49.53)	(371,463)	(52.66)
Gross Profit	444,937	50.47	333,961	47.34
Operating Expenses				
Selling and marketing	(44,046)	(5.00)	(21,498)	(3.05)
General and administrative	(196,814)	(22.33)	(118,763)	(16.83)
Research and development	(95,569)	(10.84)	(63,288)	(8.97)
Total operating expenses (Notes 6(24) and 7)	(336,429)	(38.17)	(203,549)	(28.85)
Operating Income	108,508	12.30	130,412	18.49
Non-operating Income and Loss				
Other gains and losses (Note 6(23) and 7)	18,391	2.09	7,643	1.08
Interest income	7,836	0.89	14,659	2.08
Interest costs	(5,151)	(0.58)	(487)	(0.07)
Total non-operating income and loss	21,076	2.40	21,815	3.09
Income Before Income Tax	129,584	14.70	152,227	21.58
Income Tax Expenses (Note 6(25))	(23,472)	(2.66)	(32,458)	(4.60)
Net Income	106,112	12.04	119,769	16.98
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)				
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss				
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (Note 6(16))	577	0.07	(78)	(0.01)
Income tax benefit related to components of other comprehensive				
income that will not be reclassified subsequently (Note 6(25))	(98)	(0.01)	13	-
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss				
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations	(2,758)	(0.31)	824	0.12
Income tax expense related to components of other comprehensive				
income that may be reclassified subsequently (Note 6(25))	469	0.05	(140)	(0.02)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of income tax	(1,810)	(0.20)	619	0.09
Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) For The Year	\$104,302	11.84	\$120,388	17.07
Net Income Attributable To:				
Shareholders of the parent	\$101,354	11.50	\$112,384	15.93
Noncontrolling interests	4,758	0.54	7,385	1.05
	\$106,112	12.04	\$119,769	16.98
Total Comprehensive Income (loss) Attributable To:				
Shareholders of the parent	\$99,544	11.30	\$113,003	16.02
Noncontrolling interests	4,758	0.54	7,385	1.05
	\$104,302	11.84	\$120,388	17.07
Basic earnings per share (Note 6(26))	\$2.30	:	\$2.57	
Diluted earnings per share (Note 6(26))	\$2.30		\$2.57	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 (In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

				Equity Attrib	Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent	ers of the Parent					
	Capital	Capital Stock			Retained Earnings		Other Equity				
Items	Common Stock	Advance Receipts for Common Stock	Additional Paid- in Capital	Legal Reserve	Special Reserve	Unappropriated Earnings	Exchange . Differences Arising on Translation of Foreign Operations	Treasury Stock	Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent	Noncontrolling Interests	Total Equity
Balance at January 1, 2016	\$446,780	\$	\$2,043,087	\$25,877	\$	\$194,582	\$684	(\$266,072)	\$2,444,938	\$48,368	\$2,493,306
Appropriations of prior year's earnings											
Legal reserve		•		11,238		(11,238)					
Special reserve	•	•	•	'	751	(751)	•	•			1 3
Cash dividends	•	•		,	'	(110,610)	,	•	(110,610)	•	(110,610)
Adjustments to share of changes in equities of											
associates and joint venture	•	•	16	•	•	•			16		16
Net income in 2016	•	•	•	•	•	101,354	•	•	101,354	4,758	106,112
Other comprehensive income (loss) in 2016	٠	•	•	•	1	479	(2,289)	'	(1,810)	•	(1,810)
Total comprehensive income in 2016		,		,	'	101,833	(2,289)		99,544	4,758	104,302
Share-based payment transactions	'		9,566					150,596	160,162	10	160,172
Balance at December 31, 2016	\$446,780	·s	\$2,052,669	\$37,115	\$751	\$173,816	(\$1,605)	(\$115,476)	\$2,594,050	\$53,136	\$2,647,186
Dolongs of Jonnorry 1 2015	00336.800	84 494	967 657%	\$3 434	S.	\$223.746	d	\$	\$1 027 970	\$	\$1.027.970
Ammonitorions of prior moon's committee	0000		-		,						
Appropriations of prior year's carrings Legal reserve	,	,		22,443	•	(22,443)		,	,	,	- 1
Cash dividends	٠	'	•			(79,360)	•		(79,360)	•	(79,360)
Stock dividends	39,680	•	•	•		(39,680)	•	,	•	•	1
Adjustments to share of changes in equities of											
associates and joint venture	•	•	17		•	•		•	17	'	17
Net income in 2015	•	•	•	•	•	112,384	•		112,384	7,385	119,769
Other comprehensive income (loss) in 2015	'	•	•	•		(65)	684		619		. 619
Total comprehensive income in 2015						112,319	684		113,003	7,385	120,388
Issuance of common stock for cash	70,300	(4,494)	1,583,574		'				1,649,380		1,649,380
Purchase of Treasury stock			•	'	•	•	•	(266,072)	(266,072)	'	(266,072)
Noncontrolling interests	•	•		'	,	'		'	•	40,983	40,983
Balance at December 31, 2015	\$446,780	\$	\$2,043,087	\$25,877	\$	\$194,582	€\$	(\$266,072)	\$2,444,938	\$48,368	\$2,493,306

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Items	2016	2015
Cash Flows From Operating Activities		
Income Before Income Tax	\$129,584	\$152,227
Adjustments for:		
The items of gains and losses:		
Depreciation	36,699	17,815
Amortization	31,216	5,882
Allowance for bad debts	-	985
Loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	515	4,714
Interest expense	5,151	487
Interest income	(7,836)	(14,659)
Compensation cost of share-based payment transactions	10,034	-
Investment loss recognized under equity method for associates and joint venture	270	-
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	-	8
Gain on disposal of investments	(2,405)	(2,181)
Total adjustments for the items of gains and losses	73,644	13,051
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Decrease (increase) in financial instruments held for trading	(5,114)	(9,337)
Decrease (increase) in notes receivable	66,647	(60,592)
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable	(135,993)	(60,075)
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable-related parties	(22,586)	(3,095)
Decrease (increase) in construction receipts receivable	(141,270)	(81,368)
Decrease (increase) in inventories	(7,351)	(118,135)
Decrease (increase) in prepayments	(3,258)	(115,332)
Decrease (increase) in other current assets	(17,065)	(9,669
Decrease (increase) in other financial assets	(63,203)	(17,433
Decrease (increase) in long-term notes and accounts receivable	44,373	(7,442
Decrease (increase) in other operating assets	-	(104,981
Increase (decrease) in notes payable	51,977	13,530
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable	46,814	(27,982
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable-related parties	(8,496)	8,496
Increase (decrease) in construction receipts payable	(158,409)	161,992
	11,609	12,212
Increase (decrease) in other payables Increase (decrease) in other payables-related parties	(150)	150
	111	1,023
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities	173	511
Increase (decrease) in net defined benefit liabilities-noncurrent	(341,191)	(417,527
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities	(267,547)	(404,476
Total adjustments	(137,963)	(252,249
Cash generated from (used in) operations	(33,363)	(47,155
Income taxes paid	(171,326)	(299,404
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	(171,520)	
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.		(Continued

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

(Continued)

BROGENT TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)

Items	2016	2015
Cash Flows From Investing Activities		
Proceed from sale (acquisition) of debt investments with no active market	186,352	(392,517)
Acquisition of held-to-maturity financial assets	(33,900)	-
Acquisition of financial assets carried at cost	(25,356)	-
Acquisition of investments accounted for using equity method	(6,910)	=
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	(227,700)	(294,685)
Decrease (increase) in refundable deposits	504	(6,211)
Acquisition of intangible assets	(39,480)	(13,783)
Decrease (increase) in other financial assets	7,500	-
Increase in prepayments for equipment	(2,543)	(73,754)
Interest received	8,004	14,335
Net cash used in investing activities	(133,529)	(766,615)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities		×
Proceeds from short-term bank loans	20,000	-
Proceeds from long-term bank loans	368,620	146,020
Repayments of long-term bank loans	(336,347)	(6,594)
Cash dividends paid	(110,610)	(79,360)
Proceeds from issuing shares	-	1,649,380
Cash paid for purchase of treasury stock	•	(266,072)
Proceed from purchase of treasury stock by employee	150,144	
Interest paid	(5,118)	(162)
Increase (decrease) in noncontrolling interests	10	41,000
Net cash provided by financing activities	86,699	1,484,212
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents	(2,758)	824
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents	(220,914)	419,017
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year	703,135	284,118
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year	\$482,221	\$703,135

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

(Attachment 4) Comparison Table of the "Articles of Incorporation" of Brogent Technologies Inc. before and after Revision

Article Number	Before Revision	After Revision	Description
Article 15	The Board of Directors	The Board of Directors shall	Revised for the
	shall be comprised of the	be comprised of the Directors	implementation
	Directors of the Company.	of the Company. The Board of	of corporate
	The Board of Directors	Directors shall appoint one	governance.
	shall appoint one	Chairperson of the Board and	
	Chairperson of the Board	one Vice Chairperson of the	
	during a board meeting	Board from among attending	
	with more than two-thirds		
		meeting with at least	
	1 1	two-thirds of Directors	
		present, and with the approval	
	Directors. The	of more than half of all	
	Chairperson shall	attending Directors. The	
	represent the Company	Chairperson shall represent the	
	externally.	Company externally.	
Article 25	The Articles of	The Articles of Incorporation	Addition of
Afficie 25	Incorporation were	The Articles of Incorporation were established on October	amendment
	established on October	22, 2001.	date and
	22, 2001.	Omitted.	
	Omitted.	The seventeenth amendment	sequence.
		was made on May 31, 2017.	
	was made on May 31,	was made on way 51, 201 <u>7</u> .	
	201 <u>6</u> .		

Comparison Table of the "Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal of Assets" of Brogent Technologies Inc. before and after Revision

A . 1		before and after Revision	D
Article	Before Revision	After Revision	Description
Number			
Article 7,	In acquiring or disposing of	In acquiring or disposing of real	Revised in
Paragraph 4	real estate or equipment where	estate or equipment where the	accordance
	the transaction amount reaches	transaction amount reaches 20	with
	twenty percent of the	percent of the Company's paid-in	
	Company's paid-in capital or	capital or NT\$300 million or	in laws and
	NT\$300 million or more, the	more, the Company, unless	regulations.
	Company, unless transacting	transacting with a government	
	with a government institution,	agency, engaging others to build	
	engaging others to build on its	on its own land, engaging others	
	own land, engaging others to	to build on rented land, or	
	build on rented land, or	acquiring or disposing of	
	acquiring or disposing of	equipment for business use, shall	
	equipment for business use,	obtain an appraisal report prior	
	shall obtain an appraisal report	to the date of occurrence of the	
	prior to the date of occurrence	event from a professional	
	of the event from a professional	appraiser and shall further	
	appraiser and shall further	comply with the following	
	comply with the following	provisions:	
	provisions:	(1) Where due to special	
	(1) Where due to special	circumstances it is necessary to	
	circumstances it is necessary to	give a specific market value or	
	give a specific market value or	specified market value as a	
	specified market value as a	reference basis for the	
	reference basis for the	transaction price, the transaction	
	transaction price, the	shall be submitted for approval	
	transaction shall be submitted	in advance by the Board of	
	for approval in advance by the	Directors, and the same	
	Board of Directors, and the	procedure shall apply to any	
	same procedure shall apply to	future changes to the terms and	
		conditions of the transaction.	
	and conditions of the	(2) Where the transaction	
	transaction.	amount is NT\$1 billion or more,	
	(2) Where the transaction	appraisals from two or more	
	amount is NT\$1 billion or	professional appraisers shall be	
	more, appraisals from two or	obtained.	
	more professional appraisers	(3) Where any one of the	
	shall be obtained.	following circumstances applies	
	(3) Where any one of the	with respect to the professional	
	following circumstances	appraiser's appraisal results,	
	applies with respect to the	unless all the appraisal results	
	professional appraiser's	for the assets to be acquired are	
	appraisal results, unless all the	higher than the transaction	
	appraisal results for the assets	amount, or all the appraisal	
	to be acquired are higher than	results for the assets to be	
	the transaction amount, or all	disposed of are lower than the	
	the appraisal results for the	transaction amount, a certified	
		·	

engaged to perform the appraisal lower than the transaction amount, a certified public in accordance with the accountant shall be engaged to provisions of Statements on perform the appraisal in Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the ROC accordance with the provisions of Statements on Auditing Accounting Research and Standards No. 20 published by Development Foundation the ROC Accounting Research (ARDF) and render a specific and Development Foundation opinion regarding the reason for (ARDF) and render a specific the discrepancy and the appropriateness of the opinion regarding the reason for the discrepancy and the transaction price: appropriateness of the 1. The discrepancy between the transaction price: appraisal result and the 1. The discrepancy between the transaction amount is 20 percent appraisal result and the or more of the transaction transaction amount is 20 amount. percent or more of the 2. The discrepancy between the transaction amount. appraisal results of two or more 2. The discrepancy between the professional appraisers is 10 appraisal results of two or more percent or more of the professional appraisers is 10 transaction amount. percent or more of the (4) No more than 3 months may transaction amount. elapse between the date of the (4) No more than 3 months appraisal report issued by a professional appraiser and the may elapse between the date of the appraisal report issued by a contract execution date. professional appraiser and the However, where the publicly contract execution date. announced current value for the However, where the publicly same period is used and not announced current value for the more than 6 months have same period is used and not elapsed, an opinion may still be more than 6 months have issued by the original elapsed, an opinion may still be professional appraiser. issued by the original professional appraiser. Where the Company acquires Article 7. Where the Company acquires or Revised in Paragraph 6 or disposes of memberships disposes of memberships or accordance or intangible assets and the intangible assets and the with transaction amount reaches 20 transaction amount reaches 20 amendment percent or more of the percent or more of the in laws and Company's paid-in capital or Company's paid-in capital or regulations. NT\$300 million or more, NT\$300 million or more, except except in transactions with a in transactions with a government institution, the government agency, the Company shall engage a Company shall engage a certified public accountant certified public accountant prior prior to the date of occurrence to the date of occurrence of the of the event to render an event to render an opinion on the opinion on the reasonableness reasonableness of the transaction

public accountant shall be

assets to be disposed of are

of the transaction price; the CPA shall comply with the provisions of Statements on Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the Accounting Research and Development Foundation.

price; the CPA shall comply with the provisions of Statements on Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the Accounting Research and Development Foundation.

Article 8, Paragraph 2

from or to a related party and and percent or more of total Company's assets, NT\$300 million or except in trading government bonds or bonds resale under repurchase and resale subscription or repurchase may not proceed to enter into a proceed ratified by the Supervisors:

- anticipated benefit of acquisition disposal assets.
- (2) The reason for choosing the related party related party as a trading counterparty. counterparty.
- With (3) respect to acquisition of real estate from a related information regarding related party, regarding appraisal of of reasonableness accordance Subparagraphs (1) and (4) of Article.

Paragraph 3 of this Article. (4) The date and price at which the related the related party originally acquired the real estate, the acquired the real estate, the original original trading counterparty, and that trading counterparty's

Where the Company acquires Where the Company acquires or Revised in or disposes of real estate from disposes of real estate from or to accordance or to a related party, or where it a related party, or acquires or with intends to acquire or dispose of disposes of assets other than real amendment assets other than real estate estate from or to a related party in laws and amount regulations. the transaction the transaction amount reaches reaches 20 percent or more of

20 percent or more of the the Company's paid-in capital, Company's paid-in capital, ten 10 percent or more of the the Company's total assets. or NT\$300 million or more, except more, in trading of government bonds of or bonds under repurchase and agreements, agreements, or subscription or domestic money market funds redemption of domestic money issued by securities investment market funds, the Company trusts, the Company may not enter to transaction contract or make a transaction contract or make a payment until the following payment until the following matters have been approved by matters have been approved by the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors and ratified by the Supervisors:

- (1) The purpose, necessity and (1) The purpose, necessity and the anticipated benefit of acquisition or disposal of assets.
 - (2) The reason for choosing the as a trading
- With (3) respect the acquisition of real estate from a party, information appraisal of the the reasonableness the of the preliminary transaction terms in preliminary transaction terms accordance with Subparagraphs with (1) and (4) of Paragraph 3 of this
 - (4) The date and price at which party originally trading counterparty,

and that trading counterparty's relationship to the Company and relationship to the Company the related party. and the related party.

- (5) Monthly cash forecasts for the commencing from the contract, evaluation of the reasonableness necessity of the transaction, utilization. utilization.
- professional appraiser or a with the preceding Article. CPA's opinion obtained in (7) Restrictive covenants and compliance with the preceding other Article.
- (7) Restrictive covenants and The important The calculation of "within herein. and Board of Directors and ratified toward the transaction amount. the **Supervisors** accordance with the provisions disposal of equipment for of the Standards need not be business use between the counted toward the transaction Company and its subsidiaries, amount.

With respect to the acquisition or disposal of equipment for business use between the Company and its subsidiaries, the Company's Board of Directors may pursuant to Article 7, Paragraph 2, Subparagraph 2 delegate the Chairperson of the Board to decide such matters when the transaction is within a certain amount and have the decisions subsequently submitted to and retroactively ratified by the next Board of Directors

- (5) Monthly cash flow forecasts flow for the year commencing from year the anticipated month of signing the of the contract, evaluation of the anticipated month of signing of necessity of the transaction, and fund
- and reasonableness of fund (6) An appraisal report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's (6) An appraisal report from a opinion obtained in compliance
 - important stipulations associated with the transaction.

calculation of stipulations "transaction amount" referred to associated with the transaction. in the preceding Paragraph shall the be made in accordance with "transaction amount" referred Article 11, Paragraph 1 herein, to in the preceding Paragraph and "within the preceding year" shall be made in accordance as used herein refers to the year with Article 11, Paragraph 1 preceding the date of occurrence the of the current transaction. Items preceding year" as used herein that have been approved by the refers to the year preceding the Board of Directors and ratified date of occurrence of the by the Supervisors in accordance current transaction. Items that with the provisions of the have been approved by the Standards need not be counted in With respect to the acquisition or the Company's Board of

Directors may pursuant to Article 7. Paragraph 2. Subparagraph 2 delegate the Chairperson of the Board to decide such matters when the transaction is within a certain amount and have the decisions subsequently submitted to and retroactively ratified by the next Board of Directors meeting.

	meeting.		
Article 10,	A Company that conducts a	A Company that conducts a	Revised in
Paragraph 3	merger, demerger, acquisition,	merger, demerger, acquisition, or	accordance
	or transfer of shares shall, prior	transfer of shares shall, prior to	with
	to convening the Board of	convening the Board of	amendment
	Directors Meeting of the two	Directors Meeting of the two	in laws and
	parties, engage a CPA, attorney,	parties, engage a CPA, attorney,	regulations.
	or securities underwriter to	or securities underwriter to give	
	give an opinion on the	an opinion on the reasonableness	
	reasonableness of the share	of the share transfer ratio,	
	transfer ratio, acquisition price,	acquisition price, or distribution	
	or distribution of cash or other	of cash or other property to	
	property to shareholders, and	shareholders, and submit it to the	
	submit it to the Shareholders	Shareholders Meeting. <u>However</u> ,	
	Meeting. In principle, the share	if the Company merges	
	transfer ratio or acquisition	subsidiaries for which it directly	
	price may not be arbitrarily	or indirectly retains 100% of	
	modified. This however shall	issued shares or total capital, or	
	not apply to changes in	for mergers between subsidiaries	
	conditions that were specified	for which it directly or indirectly	
	in the contract and those that	retains 100% of issued shares or	
	have been publicly disclosed.	total capital, the aforementioned	
	The conditions under which	expert's opinion on the	
	changes in the share transfer	reasonableness may be	
	ratio or acquisition price are	exempted. In principle, the share	
	allowed are as follows:	transfer ratio or acquisition price	
	(1) Implementation of capital	may not be arbitrarily modified.	
	increase in cash or issuance of	This however shall not apply to	
	convertible corporate bonds,	changes in conditions that were	
	bonus shares, corporate bonds	specified in the contract and	
	with warrants, preferred shares	those that have been publicly	
	with warrants, stock warrants	disclosed. The conditions under	
	or other equity based securities.		
	(2) Disposal of major Company		
	assets or other activities which	are allowed are as follows:	
	may influence the financial	(1) Implementation of capital	
	operations of the Company.	increase in cash or issuance of	
	(3) Significant events such as major disasters or material	convertible corporate bonds,	
	technological changes that	bonus shares, and corporate bonds with warrants, preferred	
	affect Company shareholders'	shares with warrants, stock	
	equity or share price.	warrants or other equity based	
	(4) Adjustments made by any	securities.	
	of the participating companies	(2) Disposal of major Company	
	of the merger, demerger,	assets or other activities which	
	acquisition or transfer of shares	may influence the financial	
	due to the lawful buyback of	operations of the Company.	
	treasury shares.	(3) Significant events such as	
	(5) Changes in the entities or	major disasters or material	
	number of participating	technological changes that affect	
	companies for the merger,	Company shareholders' equity or	
L	<u> </u>	23 -	

	demerger, acquisition, or	share price.	
	transfer of shares.	(4) Adjustments made by any of	
	(6) Other changes in conditions	1	
	that have been specified in the	the merger, demerger, acquisition	
	contract and have been publicly		
	disclosed.	lawful buyback of treasury	
	discrosed.	shares.	
		(5) Changes in the entities or	
		number of participating	
		companies for the merger,	
		demerger, acquisition, or transfer	
		of shares.	
		(6) Other changes in conditions	
		that have been specified in the	
		contract and have been publicly	
		disclosed.	
Article 11	If the following conditions	If the following conditions occur	Revised in
Paragraph 1	occur in the Company's	in the Company's acquisition or	accordance
i uzugrupii i	acquisition or disposal of	disposal of assets, related	with
	assets, related information	information shall, in accordance	amendment
	shall, in accordance with its	with its nature and regulated	in laws and
	nature and regulated format, be	format, be input into the Market	regulations.
	input into the Market	Observation Post System	regulations.
	Observation Post System	(MOPS) within two days of the	
	1	occurrence of the fact:	
	occurrence of the fact:	(1) Where the Company acquires	
	(1) Where the Company	or disposes of real estate from or	
	acquires or disposes of real	to a related party, or acquires or	
	estate from or to a related party,	disposes of assets other than real	
	or acquires or disposes of	estate from or to a related party	
	assets other than real estate	and the transaction amount	
	from or to a related party and	reaches 20 percent or more of	
	_ ·	the Company's paid-in capital,	
	20 percent or more of the	10 percent or more of the	
	Company's paid-in capital, 10	Company's total assets, or	
	percent or more of the	NT\$300 million or more.	
	Company's total assets, or	However, trade of government	
	NT\$300 million or more.	bonds or bonds under repurchase	
	However, trade of government	and resale agreements, or	
	bonds or bonds under	subscription or repurchase of	
	repurchase and resale	domestic money market funds	
	agreements, or subscription or	issued by securities investment	
	redemption of domestic money	<u>trusts</u> shall not be restricted.	
	market funds shall not be	(2) Merger, demerger,	
	restricted.	acquisition, or transfer of shares.	
	(2) Merger, demerger,	(3) Derivative transactions that	
	acquisition, or transfer of	accumulate losses beyond the	
	shares.	portfolio limits or individual	
	(3) Derivative transactions that	limits specified in the	
	accumulate losses beyond the	Company's procedures.	
	portfolio limits or individual	(4) Where the type of asset	

limits specified in the Company's procedures. (4) Asset transactions other than those referred to in the preceding three Subparagraphs, amount fulfills one of the disposal of receivables by a financial institution, or an investment in the Mainland China region that reaches 20 percent or more of the Company's paid-in capital or NT\$300 million. The above shall however not apply to the following circumstances:

- 1. Trade of government bonds.
- 2. Trade of government bonds or bonds under repurchase and resale agreements, or subscription or redemption of domestic money market funds. 3. Where the type of asset acquired or disposed is equipment for business use, the is more than NT\$500 million. trading counterparty is not a related party, and the transaction amount is less than NT\$500 million.
- 4. Where real estate is acquired others to build on rented land, under an arrangement on engaging others to build on the of housing units, joint Company's own land, engaging construction and allocation of others to build on rented land. ioint construction and allocation of housing units, ioint construction and allocation of ownership percentages, or joint construction and separate sale. and the amount the Company expects to invest in the transaction is less than NT\$500 disposal of receivables by a million.
- (5) The "transaction amount" specified in Subparagraphs (1) to (4) shall be calculated as follows and the "within the preceding year" as used in the preceding paragraph refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current transaction. Items duly

acquired or disposed is equipment for business use, the trading counterparty is not a related party, and the transaction following conditions:

- 1. Where the Company's paid-in capital is less than NT\$10 billion and the transaction amount is more than NT\$500 million. 2. Where the Company's paid-in capital is more than NT\$10 billion and the transaction amount is more than NT\$1
- billion. (5) Acquisition or disposal of real estate for construction use by a public company that engages in the construction business, where the trading counterparty is not a related party, and the transaction amount (6) Where real estate is acquired
- under an arrangement on engaging others to build on the Company's own land, engaging joint construction and allocation ownership percentages, or joint construction and separate sale, and the amount the Company expects to invest in the transactionis more than NT\$500 million.
- (7) Where an asset transaction other than those referred to in the preceding six Subparagraphs, a financial institution, or an investment in the Mainland China region reaches 20 percent or more of the Company's paid-in capital or NT\$300 million. The above shall however not apply to the following circumstances:
- 1. Trade of government bonds.
- 2. Securities trading by

announced in accordance with Regulations need not becounted toward the transaction amount.

- 1. The amount of each individual transaction.
- 2. The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals of the same type of underlying asset with the same trading counterparty within a year.
- 3. The cumulative transaction amount of real estate acquisitions and disposals (cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) under the same development project within a year.
- 4. The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals (cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of the same security within a year.

 The "within a year" as mentioned above shall refer to the one year dating back from the date of occurrence of the current transaction. Amounts that have already been announced in accordance with the Procedures may be excluded.

investment professionals on foreign or domestic securities exchanges or places of business of securities firms, subscription and issuance of regular corporate bonds on the domestic primary market and regular financial bonds that do not involve shareholding rights, or securities required for subscription by the Taipei Exchange due to the business requirements of a securities firm or an advisory recommending securities firm of the issuer registered for TPEx trading of Emerging Stock trading.

3. Trade of bonds under repurchase and resale agreements, or subscription or repurchase of domestic money market funds issued by securities investment trusts.

The transaction amount in the preceding <u>Paragraph</u> shall be calculated in accordance with the following:

- 1. The amount of each individual transaction.
- 2. The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals of the same type of underlying asset with the same trading counterparty within a year.
- 3. The cumulative transaction amount of real estate acquisitions and disposals (cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) under the same development project within a year.
- 4. The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals (cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of the same security within a year.

 The "within a year" as mentioned above shall refer to the one year dating back from

		the date of occurrence of the current transaction. Amounts that have already been announced in accordance with the Procedures may be excluded.		
Article 11	1 *	1 2	Revised in	
Paragraph 3 of public announcement makes		*	accordance	
	an error or omission in an item	an error or omission in an item	with	
	required by regulations to be	required by regulations to be	amendment	
	publicly announced and as such	publicly announced and as such	in laws and	
is required to correct the item,		is required to correct the item, all	regulations.	
	all the items shall be again	the items shall be again publicly		
	publicly announced and	announced and reported in their		
	reported in their entirety.	entirety within two days of		
		learning of the error or omission.		

(Attachment 6)

Comparison Table of the Guidelines for the Election of Directors and Supervisors of Brogent Technologies Inc. before and after Revision

Original	Before Revision	gies inc. before and after R After Revision	Description
Article			_ 555117511
Sequence			
Article 6	Elections of both the	When the number of Directors	In compliance
	Company's Directors and	falls below five due to the	with revised
	Supervisors shall be conducted	dismissal of a Director for any	articles of the
	in accordance with the	reason, the Company shall hold	Articles of
	candidate nomination system	a by-election to fill the vacancy	Incorporation.
	and procedures set out in	at its next shareholders meeting.	_
	Article 192-1 of the Company	When the number of Directors	
	Act.	falls short by one third of the	
	When the number of Directors	total number prescribed in the	
	falls below five due to the	Company's Articles of	
	dismissal of a Director for any	Incorporation, the Company	
	reason, the Company shall	shall convene an extraordinary	
	hold a by-election to fill the	shareholders meeting within 60	
	vacancy at its next	days from the date of	
	shareholders meeting. When	occurrence to hold a by-election	
	the number of Directors falls	to fill the vacancies.	
	short by one third of the total	When the number of	
	number prescribed in the	Independent Directors falls	
	Company's Articles of	below that required under the	
	Incorporation, the Company	provisions of Article 14-2,	
	shall convene an extraordinary	Paragraph 1 of the Securities	
	shareholders meeting within 60 days from the date of	and Exchange Act, or the related provisions of the Taiwan	
	occurrence to hold a	Stock Exchange Corporation	
	by-election to fill the	Rules Governing Review of	
	vacancies.	Securities Listings, or	
	When the number of	Subparagraph 8 of the	
	Independent Directors falls	"Standards for Determining	
	below that required under the	Unsuitability for TPEx Listing	
	provisions of Article 14-2,	under Article 10, Paragraph 1 of	
	Paragraph 1 of the Securities	the Rules Governing the Review	
	and Exchange Act, or the	of Securities for Trading on the	
	related provisions of the	TPEx," a by-election shall be	
	Taiwan Stock Exchange	held at the next shareholders	
	Corporation Rules Governing	meeting to fill the vacancy.	
	Review of Securities Listings,	When the Independent Directors	
	or Subparagraph 8 of the	are dismissed en masse, an	
	"Standards for Determining	extraordinary shareholders	
	Unsuitability for TPEx Listing	meeting shall be convened	
	under Article 10, Paragraph 1	within 60 days from the date of	
	of the Rules Governing the	occurrence to hold a by-election	
	Review of Securities for	to fill the vacancies.	
	Trading on the TPEx," a	When the number of	
	by-election shall be held at the	Supervisors falls below that	

next shareholders meeting to fill the vacancy. When the Independent Directors are dismissed en masse, an extraordinary shareholders meeting shall be convened within 60 days from the date of occurrence to hold a by-election to fill the vacancies.

When the number of Supervisors falls below that prescribed in the Company's Articles of Incorporation due to the dismissal of a Supervisor for any reason, a by-election to fill the vacancy should ideally be held at the next shareholders meeting. When all Supervisors are dismissed, an extraordinary shareholders meeting shall be convened within 60 days from the date of occurrence to hold a by-election to fill the vacancies.

prescribed in the Company's Articles of Incorporation due to the dismissal of a Supervisor for any reason, a by-election to fill the vacancy should ideally be held at the next shareholders meeting. When all Supervisors are dismissed, an extraordinary shareholders meeting shall be convened within 60 days from the date of occurrence to hold a by-election to fill the vacancies.

Brogent Technologies Inc. Articles of Incorporation

Chapter 1 General Provisions

Article 1: The Company is constituted in accordance with the Company Act, and shall be known as Brogent Technologies Inc.

Article 2: The business scope of the Company is as follows:

- 1. F218010 Information software retailer.
- 2. F219010 Electronic material retailer.
- 3. E605010 Computer installation.
- 4. F118010 Information software wholesaler.
- 5. F119010 Electronic material wholesaler.
- 6. I301010 Information software service.
- 7. I301020 Information processing service.
- 8. I301030 Electronic information supply service.
- 9. J601010 Arts service.
- 10. I401010 General advertising service.
- 11. J305010 Sound publishing.
- 12. J602010 Arts performance activity.
- 13. E603050 Automated control equipment engineering.
- 14. E604010 Machinery installation.
- 15. F109070 Wholesale of cultural education, musical instrument, and educational entertainment necessities.
- 16. F113010 Machinery wholesaler.
- 17. F113050 Computer and business machinery wholesaler.
- 18. F209060 Retailer of cultural education, musical instrument, and educational entertainment necessities.
- 19. F213010 Electronic retailer.
- 20. F213030 Computer and business machinery retailer.
- 21. F401010 International trade.
- 22. F601010 Intellectual property rights service.
- 23. I501010 Product design service.
- 24. I503010 Landscape and interior design.
- 25. F213080 Machinery retailer.
- 26. F213990 Other machinery retailer.
- 27. J701040 Leisure activity venue service.
- 28. J701070 Information leisure service.
- 29. JB01010 Conference and exhibition service.
- 30. JE01010 Leasing service.
- 31. ZZ99999 All businesses not prohibited or restricted by law, except those subject to special approval.
- Article 3: The Company may, based on business requirements and the reciprocity principle, provide guarantees to external parties which shall be processed in accordance with the Company's External Commitment Management Regulations.
- Article 4: The Company's total reinvestment amount may exceed forty percent (40%) of the net value of the most recent financial statements and the Board of Directors shall be authorized for its implementation.
- Article 5: The Company is headquartered in Kaohsiung City. Where necessary the Company may establish branch companies domestically or overseas, subject to the resolution by the Board of Directors meeting

Article 6: The Company's public notices shall be made pursuant to Article 28 of the Company Act.

Chapter 2 Shares

- Article 7: The Company's total capital has been set at Five Hundred Million New Taiwan Dollars (NT\$ 500,000,000), issuable in fifty million (50,000,000) shares at ten dollars (NT\$10) per share. The Board of Directors is authorized to conduct issuance in installments.
 - An additional NT\$20 million from the capital amount specified in Paragraph 1 shall be reserved for the issuance of employee stock options issuable in two million (2,000,000) shares at ten dollars (NT\$10) per share. The Board of Directors is authorized to conduct issuance in installments.
- Article 7-1: Transfer of shares to employees at prices below the market price or the Company's average purchase price can be made subject to the resolution of the most recent shareholders' meeting. The passage of such resolution requires the presence of shareholders representing more than half of all outstanding shares and a favorable vote by more than two-thirds of votes present in the meeting.
- Article 8: The Company's stocks shall be registered, and signed or sealed by at least three Directors. The stocks shall be issued following proper certification procedures in accordance with the law. According to Article 162-2 of the Company Act, stocks issued by the Company after the public offering are not required to be printed. The Company, however, should contact the securities depository and custodian institution for registration of the share certificates.
- Article 9: The entries in the List of Shareholders shall not be altered within the period specified in Article 165 of the Company Act. The Company shall administer all stock-related operations in accordance with the Company act and the "Regulations Governing the Administration of Shareholder Services of Public Companies" promulgated by the competent authority.

Chapter 3 Shareholders' meeting

- Article 10: The Company holds annual and extraordinary shareholders' meetings. Annual shareholders' meetings shall be convened on a yearly basis and within six months after the end of each fiscal year, and extraordinary meetings shall be convened when necessary in accordance with the law. Unless otherwise stipulated in laws and regulations, the shareholders' meeting shall be convened by the Board of Directors. The notices for the shareholders' meeting prescribed in the preceding Paragraph may be distributed in electronic form, subject to agreement by the recipient thereof.
- Article 11: If a shareholder is unable to attend the shareholders' meeting in person, a proxy can be appointed by presenting a properly signed/sealed proxy form printed in the Company's prescribed format, while specifying the scope of delegated authority. Shareholders may appoint proxies according to Article 177 of the Company Act and the "Regulations Governing the Use of Proxies for Attendance at Shareholder Meetings of Public Companies" stipulated by the competent authority.
- Article 12: Each shareholder of the Company shall be entitled to one vote for each share. No voting power shall be granted, however, to shareholders of the Company with shares prescribed in Article 179 of the Company Act and relevant laws and regulations.

- Article 13: Unless otherwise stipulated in the Company Act, any resolutions in a shareholders' meeting should be approved by a majority vote at a meeting attended by shareholders representing at least one half of total outstanding shares.
- Article 13-1: A proposal to cancel the public issuance of the Company's shares after the public offering shall be filed for a resolution in the shareholders' meeting. The clause shall remain unaltered throughout the listing period on the TPEx trading of Emerging Stock trading and Securities Listings.

Chapter 4 Directors and Supervisors

Article 14: The Company shall have five to seven Directors and one to three Supervisors, who are elected during shareholders' meetings from among persons of adequate capacity to each serve a term of three years. Their terms of service may be renewed if they are re-elected in the following election. The total amount of shares held by all Directors and Supervisors of the Company shall be determined in accordance with regulations of the competent authority responsible for securities.

The Company may purchase liability insurance for the Directors and Supervisors during their term of office based on the compensation liabilities associated with their respective business accountabilities. The Board of Directors is authorized to determine the insurance coverage based on industry practices and standards.

Following the public offering of the Company's shares, the aforementioned Directors shall consist of no less than two Independent Directors pursuant to Article 14-2 of the Securities and Exchange Act; a candidate nomination system shall be adopted in the election and the Independent Directors shall be elected by the shareholders meeting from the list of candidates. The guidelines for qualifications, shareholdings, restrictions on concurrent posts, nomination, election and any other matters to be complied with by the Independent Directors of the Company shall be prescribed by the relevant regulations of the competent authority in charge of securities.

- Article 14-1: The Company's Directors and Supervisors are elected using the single cumulative voting method. Every share is vested with voting rights that is equivalent to the number of Directors and Supervisors to be elected. The votes can be concentrated on one candidate or distributed among several candidates. Candidates with the highest numbers of votes are elected Directors or Supervisors.
- Article 15: The Board of Directors shall be comprised of the Directors of the Company. The Board of Directors shall appoint one Chairperson of the Board during a board meeting with more than two-thirds of Directors present, and with the approval of more than half of all attending Directors. The Chairperson shall represent the Company externally.
- Article 16: When the Chairperson is on leave or unable to exercise his/her official functions for any specific reason, an acting Chairperson shall be designated in accordance with Article 208 of the Company Act.
- Article 16-1: Notices for Board of Directors meetings shall be distributed to the Directors and Supervisors at least seven days before the meeting. The purpose of the meeting shall be clearly stated in the notice. However, a Board of Directors meeting may be convened at any time in the event of an emergency. The notice for meetings may be communicated through written, fax, email, or other methods.
- Article 17: Unless otherwise regulated by the Company Act, Board of Directors resolutions are passed when there are more than half of all Directors present in a meeting and with more than half of present Directors voting in favor. If a Director is unable to

attend the Board of Directors meeting in person, the Director may delegate one of the other Directors as a proxy in accordance with the law. The Director shall in each instance issue a written proxy stating the scope of authorization with respect to the purpose for the meeting. Any proxy prescribed in the preceding Paragraph, however, shall only represent one Director in the meeting. In case a meeting of the Board of Directors is proceeded via visual communication network, the Directors taking part in such a visual communication meeting shall be deemed to have attended the meeting in person.

- Article 18: All Directors and Supervisors shall be entitled to remuneration for their execution of duties regardless of profits or losses. The Board of Directors is authorized to determine remuneration after considering their contribution to the Company and the industry's prevailing rates.
- Article 18-1: Directors of the Company who occupy job positions within the Company shall be entitled to monthly salaries in accordance with salary standards of regular managerial staff in addition to the Director or Supervisor remuneration specified in Article 21 of the Articles of Incorporation.

Chapter 5 Managerial officer

Article 19: The Company may appoint managerial staff. The appointment, dismissal and compensation of such managerial staff shall be governed by Article 29 of the Company Act.

Chapter 6 Accounting

- Article 20: The Company's accounting period begins from January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. At the end of each fiscal year, the Board of Directors of the Company shall, in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, prepare and submit (1) a Business Report (2) Financial Statements (3) Proposals on distribution of earnings or compensation of deficits, etc. to the Supervisors for auditing at least thirty days before the annual shareholders' meeting, during which the reports/statements are submitted for ratification.
- Article 21: In the event the Company makes a profit during the fiscal year, it shall set aside five (5) to fifteen (15) percent of the profits for employee remuneration. The remuneration for Directors and Supervisors shall be no higher than two percent. However, priority shall be given to funds reserved for compensation of the Company's cumulative losses, if any.

The employee remuneration specified in the preceding paragraph may be distributed in shares or cash and the recipients may include employees of subordinate companies meeting certain criteria, which the Board of Directors shall be authorized to determine at its discretion.

Article 22: Final annual net profit of the Company, if any, shall firstly be allocated for paying business tax and compensating the deficit of previous years. Ten percent of the remaining profit shall be allocated as legal reserve. The remaining profit, along with the accumulated undistributed earnings for the previous year, shall be booked as the accumulated distributable earnings; however, restrictions shall not apply if the amount of allocated legal reserve has reached the total capital of the Company. The cumulative distributable profits, with the exception of special reserve to be allocated or reversed as required by laws or regulations of the competent authority, may be considered for retention in accordance with business requirements. The remaining sum shall be used for the distribution of

dividends and if funds still remain, a resolution may be passed in the shareholder meeting for the distribution of shareholder bonus.

Article 23: The Company is situated in a changing industrial environment, wherein the corporate life cycle is at a stable growth stage. Considering the Company's capital requirement for continuous expansion and business operations, as well as long-term financial planning to satisfy shareholders needs for cash flow, the Company's dividend policy was formulated based on the residual dividend policy in the relevant laws and regulations of the Company Act. Future capital requirements are measured according to the future capital budget plan of the Company; capital required for earnings financing shall be retained, and the remaining earnings shall be distributed by way of cash or stock dividend. Particularly, cash dividend may not be less than 10% of total dividends.

Chapter 7 Addendum

Article 24: Any matters not addressed in the Articles of Incorporation shall be governed by the Company Act and relevant laws and regulations.

Article 25: The Articles of Incorporation were established on October 22, 2001.

The first amendment was made on July 5, 2002.

The second amendment was made on August 23, 2003.

The third amendment was made on June 27, 2004.

The fourth amendment was made on March 25, 2005.

The fifth amendment was made on September 29, 2005.

The sixth amendment was made on June 30, 2006.

The seventh amendment was made on June 30, 2008.

The eighth amendment was made on February 9, 2010.

The ninth amendment was made on May 31, 2011.

The tenth amendment was made on July 8, 2011.

The eleventh amendment was made on November 23, 2011.

The twelfth amendment was made on June 27, 2012.

The thirteenth amendment was made on June 19, 2013.

The fourteenth amendment was made on June 11, 2014.

The fifteenth amendment was made on May 20, 2015.

The sixteenth amendment was made on May 31, 2016.

Brogent Technologies Inc.

Chairperson: Chung-Ming Huang

Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal of Assets

Article 1: Purpose

The Procedures are established for the protection of assets and information disclosure. Any matters not addressed herein shall be governed by relevant laws and regulations.

Article 2: Regulatory Basis

The Procedures are established in accordance with Article 36-1 of the Securities and Exchange Act and the related regulations in the "Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets by Public Companies" of the Financial Supervisory Commission (hereinafter "FSC").

Article 3: Scope of Assets

- 1) Securities: Including investments in stocks, government bonds, corporate bonds, financial bonds, securities representing interest in a fund, depository receipts, call (put) warrants, beneficial interest securities, and asset-backed securities.
- 2) Real estate and other fixed assets.
- 3) Memberships.
- 4) Intangible assets: Including patents, copyrights, trademarks, franchise rights, and other intangible assets.
- 5) Claims of financial institutions (including receivables, bills purchased and discounted, loans, and overdue receivables).
- 6) Derivatives.
- 7) Assets acquired or disposed of in connection with mergers, demergers, acquisitions, or transfer of shares in accordance with the law.
- 8) Other major assets.

Article 4: Terms and Definitions

- Derivatives: Refer to forward contracts, options contracts, futures contracts, leverage contracts, and swap contracts, and compound contracts combining the above products, whose value is derived from assets, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, indexes or other interests. The term "forward contracts" does not include insurance contracts, performance contracts, after-sales service contracts, long-term leasing contracts, or long-term purchase (sales) agreements.
- 2) Assets acquired or disposed of in connection with mergers, demergers, acquisitions, or transfer of shares in accordance with law: Refers to assets acquired or disposed through mergers, demergers, or acquisitions conducted under the Business Mergers and Acquisitions Act, Financial Holding Company Act, Financial Institution Merger Act and other laws, or the transfer of shares from another company through issuance of new shares of its own as the consideration therefor (hereinafter "transfer of shares") under Article 156, Paragraph 6 of the Company Act.
- 3) Related party: As defined in the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 6 published by the Accounting Research and Development Foundation in Taiwan (hereinafter "ARDF").
- 4) Subsidiary: As defined in the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5 and No. 7 published by the ARDF.
- 5) Professional appraiser: Refers to a real estate appraiser or other person duly authorized by law to engage in the value appraisal of real estate and other

fixed assets.

- 6) Date of occurrence: Refers to the date of contract signing, date of payment, date of consignment trade, date of transfer, dates of Board of Directors resolutions, or other date that can confirm the counterpart and monetary amount of the transaction, whichever date is earlier. However, for investments for which approval of the competent authority is required, the earlier of the above date or the date of receipt of approval by the competent authority shall apply.
- 7) Investment in the Mainland China region: Refers to investments in the Mainland China region approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs Investment Commission or conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Regulations Governing Permission for Investment or Technical Cooperation in the Mainland Area.
- Article 5: The Company in principle does not conduct transactions involving the acquisition or disposal of claims of financial institutions. If transactions involving the acquisition or disposal of claims of financial institutions are proposed in the future, they shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval before establishing assessment and operating procedures.
- Article 6: Professional appraisers and their officers, certified public accounts, attorneys, and securities underwriters that provide public companies with appraisal reports, certified public accountants opinions, attorney's opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall not be a related party of any party to the transaction.

Article 7: Assessment and Operating Procedures

- 1) Price determination and supporting reference materials
 - (1) The supervisor in charge of the acquisition and disposal of the Company's assets shall carry out the acquisition and disposal in accordance with the related procedures in the Company's internal control system regarding "Fixed Assets and Investment Operations Procedures."
 - (2) A public company acquiring or disposing of securities shall, prior to the date of occurrence of the event, obtain financial statements of the issuing company for the most recent period, certified or reviewed by a certified public accountant, for reference in appraising the transaction price.
 - (3) The acquisition or disposal of real estate shall take into reference the publicly announced current value, assessed value, and the actual transaction price of nearby real estate to determine transaction conditions and price, which shall be included in an analysis report to be submitted to the Chairperson and implemented in accordance with the Company's approval system.
 - (4) The acquisition or disposal of other fixed assets shall be conducted through one of the following methods: price inquiry, price comparison, price negotiation or tendering. Related information shall be submitted following careful assessment before delivering to related departments and implemented in accordance with the Company's approval system.
 - (5) The Company's acquisition or disposal of memberships shall take into reference the fair market price to determine transaction conditions and price and implemented in accordance with the Company's approval system.
 - (6) The Company's acquisition or disposal of intangible assets shall take into reference expert assessment reports or the fair market price to determine transaction conditions and price and implemented in accordance with the

Company's approval system.

- (7) The transaction personnel in Company's acquisition or disposal of derivatives shall formulate the financial product transaction strategy of the entire Company and periodically calculate positions, collect market information, carry out trend analysis and risk assessment, and formulate operating strategies as the basis for conducting transactions after receiving approval in the Company's approval system.
- (8) When the Company conducts a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares, it shall engage a CPA, attorney, or securities underwriter to give an opinion on the reasonableness of the share transfer ratio, acquisition price, or distribution of cash or other property to shareholders prior to the resolution of the Board of Directors Meeting, and submit it to the Board of Directors Meeting for discussion and resolution.

2) Investment Amount and Authorization Level

- (1) The acquisition or disposal of securities investments shall only be implemented following approval from the Chairperson. If the transaction amount is above 40% (non-inclusive) of net value, its implementation shall require the approval of the Board of Directors.
- (2) 1. The acquisition or disposal of real estate shall take into reference the publicly announced current value, assessed value, and the actual transaction price of nearby real estate to determine transaction conditions and price, which shall be included in an analysis report to be submitted to the Chairperson for approval. The acquisition or disposal may only be implemented following approval in the next Board of Directors meeting.
 - 2. The acquisition or disposal of other fixed assets shall be conducted through one of the following methods: price inquiry, price comparison, price negotiation or tendering. Acquisition or disposal under NT\$1 million (inclusive) shall be filed for approval in accordance with the authorization regulations and submitted to the President for approval; acquisition or disposal valued at over NT\$1 million may only be implemented following approval from the Chairperson.
- (3) Total amounts of real estate and securities acquired by the Company and each subsidiary for purposes other than business use and limits on individual securities investments shall be subject to the following restrictions:
 - 1. Total amount of real estate for purposes other than business use may not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the net value of the Company's most recent financial statements.
 - 2. Total amount of securities may not exceed forty percent (40%) of the net value of the Company's most recent financial statements.
 - 3. The maximum amount of individual securities may not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the net value of the Company's most recent financial statements.
- (4) The acquisition or disposal of memberships shall take into reference the fair market price to determine transaction conditions and price. An analysis report shall be formulated and submitted for passage in the Board of Directors meeting before implementation.
- (5) The acquisition or disposal of intangible assets shall take into reference expert assessment reports or fair market price to determine transaction conditions and price. An analysis report shall be formulated and submitted for resolution in the Board of Directors meeting before implementation.
- (6) Each transaction in the acquisition or disposal of derivatives, in addition to

- dependence on the growth of the Company's revenue and changes in the risk positions, shall require, based on security concerns, an application form submitted by the person in charge to the authorized financial supervisor for preliminary approval before transferring to the Chairperson for approval. Any correction shall require the approval of the Chairperson before implementation. Related transactions items shall be submitted to the Board of Directors after the transaction.
- (7) The important information and related items of assets acquired or disposed of in connection with mergers, demergers, acquisitions, or transfer of shares in accordance with the law shall be compiled into an open document for shareholders prior to the shareholders' meeting and delivered to the shareholders before the meeting along with the expert opinion specified in Subparagraph (8) of the preceding paragraph and shareholder meeting notice as a reference for whether to approve the mergers, demergers, or acquisitions. This shall however not apply to mergers, demergers, or acquisitions that do not require a resolution in the shareholders' meeting in accordance with the law. In addition, if the shareholders' meeting of any company participating in the merger, demerger, or acquisition could not be held due to insufficient attendees, insufficient voting rights, or other legal restrictions, or if the proposal is rejected by the shareholders' meeting, the company participating in the merger, demerger, or acquisition shall immediately explain and publicly disclose the reason, follow-up processing operations, and date of expected shareholders' meeting.
- (8) The Company's acquisition or disposal of assets shall require the approval of the Board of Directors in accordance with the Procedures or other legal requirements. If a Director expresses objection and records or written statements are available, the Company shall submit information regarding the Director's objection to the respective Supervisors. In addition, the opinions of Independent Directors shall be taken into full consideration in discussions at the Board of Directors meeting on the transaction for the acquisition or disposal of assets in accordance with regulations. Their approval or objection and reasons shall be listed in the meeting minutes.
- (9) The approval of the shareholders' meeting shall be required if a department of the Company, due to business requirements, requires acquisition or disposal of assets listed as major items in Article 185 of the Company Act.

3) Implementation unit

The Company's acquisition and disposal of assets shall be reported level by level in accordance with the following regulations; where necessary, the report shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval:

- (1) The Company's acquisition and disposal of securities shall be implemented by the President's Office and the Finance Department in accordance with the "Investment Cycle" stipulated in the Company's Internal Control Procedures.
- (2) The Company's acquisition and disposal of real estate and other fixed assets shall be implemented by the Administration Department in accordance with the Company's Fixed Assets Management Procedures in the Internal Control System.
- (3) The Company's acquisition or disposal of memberships or intangible assets shall be implemented by the department using the assets or related departments following approval by the Administration Department in accordance with the approval procedures specified in the previous paragraph.
- (4) The Company's acquisition and disposal of derivatives shall be implemented

by the Finance Department in accordance with the Procedures.

(5) It is advisable for the Company to appoint an attorney, CPA, or securities underwriter to formulate the schedule for legal procedures in mergers, demergers, acquisitions, or transfer of shares and form a dedicated team to implement the procedures in accordance with legal requirements.

4) Appraisal report of real estate and other fixed assets

In acquiring or disposing of real estate or fix assets where the transaction amount reaches 20 percent of the Company's paid-in capital or NT\$300 million or more, the Company, unless transacting with a government agency, engaging others to build on its own land, engaging others to build on rented land, or acquiring or disposing of machinery or equipment for business use, shall obtain an appraisal report prior to the date of occurrence of the event from a professional appraiser and shall further comply with the following provisions:

- (1) Where due to special circumstances it is necessary to give a specific market value or specified market value as a reference basis for the transaction price, the transaction shall be submitted for approval in advance by the Board of Directors, and the same procedure shall apply to any future changes to the terms and conditions of the transaction.
- (2) Where the transaction amount is NT\$1 billion or more, appraisals from two or more professional appraisers shall be obtained.
- (3) Where any one of the following circumstances applies with respect to the professional appraiser's appraisal results, unless all the appraisal results for the assets to be acquired are higher than the transaction amount, or all the appraisal results for the assets to be disposed of are lower than the transaction amount, a certified public accountant shall be engaged to perform the appraisal in accordance with the provisions of Statements on Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the Accounting Research and Development Foundation (ARDF) and render a specific opinion regarding the reason for the discrepancy and the appropriateness of the transaction price:
- 1. The discrepancy between the appraisal result and the transaction amount is 20 percent or more of the transaction amount.
- 2. The discrepancy between the appraisal results of two or more professional appraisers is 10 percent or more of the transaction amount.
- (4) No more than 3 months may elapse between the date of the appraisal report issued by a professional appraiser and the contract execution date. However, where the publicly announced current value for the same period is used and not more than 6 months have elapsed, an opinion may still be issued by the original professional appraiser.

5) Expert Opinion on Acquisition and Disposal of Securities

The Company's acquisition or disposal of securities shall, prior to the date of occurrence of the event, require financial statements of the issuing company for the most recent period, certified or reviewed by a certified public accountant, for reference in appraising the transaction price, and if the dollar amount of the transaction is 20 percent of the Company's paid-in capital or NT\$300 million or more, the Company shall additionally engage a certified public accountant prior to the date of occurrence of the event to provide an opinion regarding the reasonableness of the transaction price. If the CPA is required to use the expert report as evidence, the CPA shall do so in accordance with the provisions of Statements on Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the ARDF. This requirement does not apply, however, to publicly quoted prices of securities that have an active market, or where otherwise provided by the regulations of the

Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC).

- 6) Expert Opinion Report on Memberships or Intangible Assets
 - Where the Company acquires or disposes of memberships or intangible assets and the transaction amount reaches 20 percent or more of the Company's paid-in capital or NT\$300 million or more, the Company shall engage a certified public accountant prior to the date of occurrence of the event to render an opinion on the reasonableness of the transaction price; the CPA shall comply with the provisions of Statements on Auditing Standards No. 20 published by the Accounting Research and Development Foundation.
- 7) Where the Company acquires or disposes of assets through court auction procedures, the evidentiary documentation issued by the court may be substituted for the appraisal report or CPA opinion.

Article 7-1

The calculation of the "transaction amount" referred to in Article 7, Subparagraphs 4, 5, and 6 shall be made in accordance with Article 11, Paragraph 1 herein, whereas "within the preceding year" as used herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current transaction. Items that have been provided with an appraisal report from a professional appraiser or CPA opinion need not be counted toward the transaction amount in accordance with the Standards.

Article 8: Related Party Transaction Processing Procedures

- 1) When the Company engages in any acquisition or disposal of assets from or to a related party, in addition to ensuring that the real estate processing procedures specified in Article 7 are adopted, related resolution procedures specified below shall moreover be complied with and the reasonableness of the transaction terms by appraised; if the transaction amount reaches 10 percent or more of the Company's total assets, the Company shall also obtain an appraisal report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's opinion in compliance with the provisions of the preceding Section. The "transaction amount" in the preceding paragraph shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions stipulated in Article 7-1. In addition, when determining whether the transaction target is a related party, in addition to noting its legal status, the actual relations shall also be taken into consideration.
- 2) Assessment and Operating Procedures
 - When the Company acquires or disposes of real estate from or to a related party, or acquires or disposes of assets other than real estate from or to a related party and the transaction amount reaches 20 percent or more of the Company's paid-in capital, 10 percent or more of the Company's total assets, or NT\$300 million or more, the Company may not proceed to enter into a transaction contract or make a payment until the following matters have been approved by the Board of Directors and ratified by the Supervisors:
 - (1) The purpose, necessity and anticipated benefit of the acquisition or disposal of assets.
 - (2) The reason for choosing the related party as a trading counterparty.
 - (3) With respect to the acquisition of real estate from a related party, information regarding appraisal of the reasonableness of the preliminary transaction terms in accordance with Subparagraphs (1) and (4) of Paragraph 3 of this Article.
 - (4) The date and price at which the related party originally acquired the real estate, the original trading counterparty, and that trading counterparty's

relationship to the Company and the related party.

- (5) Monthly cash flow forecasts for the year commencing from the anticipated month of signing of the contract, evaluation of the necessity of the transaction, and reasonableness of fund utilization.
- (6) An appraisal report from a professional appraiser or a CPA's opinion obtained in compliance with the preceding Article.
- (7) Restrictive covenants and other important stipulations associated with the transaction.

The calculation of the "transaction amount" referred to in the preceding Paragraph shall be made in accordance with Article 11, Paragraph 1 herein, and "within the preceding year" as used herein refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current transaction. Items that have been approved by the Board of Directors and ratified by the Supervisors in accordance with the provisions of the Standards need not be counted toward the transaction amount.

With respect to the acquisition or disposal of machinery or equipment for business use between the Company and its subsidiaries, the Company's Board of Directors may pursuant to Article 7, Paragraph 2, Subparagraph 2 delegate the Chairperson of the Board to decide such matters when the transaction is within a certain amount and have the decisions subsequently submitted to and ratified by the next Board of Directors meeting.

- 3) Appraisal of the reasonableness of the transaction price
 - (1) When the Company acquires real estate from a related party, it shall evaluate the reasonableness of the transaction costs by the following means:
 - 1. Based upon the related party's transaction price plus necessary interest on funding and the costs to be duly borne by the buyer. "Necessary interest on funding" is imputed as the weighted average interest rate on borrowing in the year the Company purchases the property; provided, it may not be higher than the maximum non-financial industry lending rate announced by the Ministry of Finance.
 - 2. Total loan value appraisal from a financial institution where the related party has previously created a mortgage on the property as security for a loan; provided, the actual cumulative amount loaned by the financial institution shall have been 70 percent or more of the financial institution's appraised loan value of the property and the period of the loan shall have been 1 year or more. However, this shall not apply where the financial institution is a related party of one of the trading counterparties.
 - (2) Where land and buildings thereupon are combined as a single property purchased in one transaction, the transaction costs for the land and the buildings may be separately appraised in accordance with either of the means listed in the preceding paragraph.
 - (3) When the Company acquires real estate from a related party and appraises the cost of the real estate in accordance with Paragraph 3, Subparagraphs (1) and (2) of this Article, it shall also engage a CPA to review the appraisal and render a specific opinion.
 - (4) Where the Company acquires real estate from a related party and one of the following circumstances exists, the acquisition shall only be required for implementation in accordance with Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article regarding appraisal and operating procedures and where the regulations on the reasonableness of the transaction cost provided in Paragraph 3, Subparagraphs (1), (2), and (3) do not apply:

- 1. The related party acquired the real estate through inheritance or as a gift.
- 2. More than 5 years will have elapsed from the time the related party signed the contract to obtain the real estate to the signing date for the current transaction.
- 3. The real estate is acquired through signing of a joint development contract with the related party, or through engaging a related party to build real estate, either on the Company's own land or on rented land.
- (5) When the Company acquires real estate from a related party and appraises the cost of the real estate in accordance with Paragraph 3, Subparagraphs (1) and (2) of this Article, and the results are uniformly lower than the transaction price, the matter shall be handled in compliance with the regulations in Paragraph 3, Subparagraph (6) of this Article. However, where the following circumstances exist, objective evidence has been submitted and specific opinions on reasonableness have been obtained from a professional real estate appraiser and a CPA, this restriction shall not apply:
 - 1. Where the related party acquired undeveloped land or leased land for development, it may submit proof of compliance with one of the following conditions:
 - (i) Where undeveloped land is appraised in accordance with the means in the preceding Article, and buildings according to the related party's construction cost plus reasonable construction profit are valued in excess of the actual transaction price. The "Reasonable construction profit" shall be deemed the average gross operating profit margin of the related party's construction division over the most recent 3 years or the gross profit margin for the construction industry for the most recent period as announced by the Ministry of Finance, whichever is lower.
 - (ii) Completed transactions by unrelated parties within the preceding year involving other floors of the same property or neighboring or closely valued parcels of land, where the land area and transaction terms are similar after calculation of reasonable price discrepancies in floor or area land prices in accordance with standard property market practices.
 - (iii) Completed leasing transactions by unrelated parties for other floors of the same property from within the preceding year, where the transaction terms are similar after calculation of reasonable price discrepancies among floors in accordance with standard property leasing market practices.
 - 2. Where the Company acquires real estate from a related party and provides evidence that the terms of the transaction are similar to the terms of transactions completed for the acquisition of neighboring or closely valued parcels of land of a similar size by unrelated parties within the preceding year. Completed transactions for neighboring or closely valued parcels of land in the preceding paragraph in principle refers to parcels on the same or an adjacent block and within a distance of no more than 500 meters or parcels close in publicly announced current value; transaction for similarly sized parcels in principle refers to transactions completed by unrelated parties for parcels with a land area of no less than 50 percent of the property in the planned transaction; within the preceding year refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the acquisition of the real estate.
- (6). When the Company acquires real estate from a related party and appraises the cost of the real estate in accordance with Paragraph 3, Subparagraph (1) and (2) of this Article, and the results are uniformly lower than the

transaction price, the following items shall be carried out. Where the Company uses the equity method to account for its investment in a public company that has set aside a special reserve under the preceding paragraph may not utilize the special reserve until it has recognized a loss on decline in market value of the assets it purchased at a premium, or they have been disposed of, or adequate compensation has been made, or the status quo ante has been restored, or there is other evidence confirming that there was nothing unreasonable about the transaction, and the FSC has given its consent.

- 1. The Company shall set aside a special reserve in accordance with Article 41, Paragraph 1 of the Securities and Exchange Act against the difference between the real estate transaction price and the appraised cost, and may not be distributed or used for capital increase or issuance of bonus shares. Where a public company uses the equity method to account for its investment in another company, then the special reserve called for under Article 41, Paragraph 1 of the Securities and Exchange Act shall be set aside pro rata in a proportion consistent with the share of public company's equity stake in the other company.
- 2. Supervisors shall comply with Article 218 of the Company Act.
- 3. Actions taken pursuant to Item 1 and Item 2 of the Subparagraph shall be reported to a shareholders meeting, and the details of the transaction shall be disclosed in the annual report and any investment prospectus.
- (7) When a public company obtains real estate from a related party, it shall also comply with Paragraph 3, Subparagraph (6) of the Article if there is other evidence indicating that the transaction was inconsistent with business practice.

Article 9 Acquisition and Disposal Procedures for Derivatives

- 1) Trading principles and strategies
 - (1) Type of Transaction
 - 1. Derivatives referred to in Article 4 of the Procedures.
 - 2. Transactions in securities deposits.
 - (2) Management (hedging) strategy

The Company's transactions in derivatives shall be for the purpose of hedging. The transaction products shall be selected to evade the risks produced in the Company's business operations as the primary goal. The currencies held must meet the Company's foreign currency requirements for actual import/export transactions and the balance of payments in the Company's overall internal position (referring to foreign exchange income and expenditure) shall be the principle for operations. The transactions are used to lower the Company's exposure to foreign exchange risks and lower the cost of foreign currency operations.

- (3) Division of powers and responsibilities
 - 1. Transaction personnel

Personnel in charge of implementing derivatives transactions shall be responsible for collecting related information and regulations regarding derivatives, the design of hedging strategies and risk disclosure. They shall understand the Company's management policies and ideals, determine market trends and risks, and provide recommendation reports on positions and method of hedging in accordance with the Company's operating strategy and submit them to the authorized supervisor for approval before

conducting transactions.

2. Transaction confirmation personnel

The transaction confirmation personnel are responsible for verifying the validity of transactions with banks; they shall also stamp seals on Transaction Confirmations and mail them back.

3. Settlement personnel

The settlement personnel are responsible for the settlement of derivatives transactions. They shall also periodically inspect cash flow status to verify that established transaction contracts are settled on time.

4. Accounting personnel

The accounting personnel shall express the results of related hedging transactions correctly and appropriately on the financial statements in accordance with related regulations (Statements of Financial Accounting Standards etc.).

(4) Performance evaluation

- 1. The performance of derivatives transactions shall be measured and evaluated based on the hedging strategy. The Finance Department shall evaluate the operating performance every two weeks based on market prices and it shall submit the operating performance of the previous month to the Chairperson in the first week of each month.
- 2. The Finance Department shall provide evaluation on foreign exchange positions as well as trends and market analyses of the foreign exchange market and conduct periodic evaluation and review. If irregularities are found, necessary response measures must be taken and reported to the Chairperson.
- (5) Establishment of the total contract price and upper limit on losses
 - 1. Total contract price
 - 1.1 Transaction amount for hedging

The total remaining value of hedging contracts of Company shall not at any time exceed the hedging requirements arising from actual transactions in a given year. The remaining value of individual contracts shall be restricted to US\$2 million or equivalent in foreign currencies.

1.2 Transaction amount for speculations

The Company does not conduct speculative transactions.

2. Establishment of the upper limit on losses

Losses from derivatives trading in aggregate losses or losses on individual contracts shall not exceed 20% of all or individual contracts.

- 2) Risk management measures
 - (1) Credit risk management

The Company shall restrict its trading counterparties to banks that conduct businesses with the Company or renowned international financial institutions that are able to provide expert information.

(2) Market risk management

The Company shall restrict its transactions to derivative products for hedging and shall not engage in speculative financial operations.

(3) Liquidity risk management

To ensure market liquidity, financial products with higher liquidity (those that can be sold on the market at any time) shall be the primary choices. The financial institution appointed to conduct the trade must retain sufficient information and the capability to conduct transactions in any markets at any time.

(4) Cash flow risk management

To ensure the stability of the Company's operating capital, the Company's source of funds for derivatives transactions shall be restricted to the Company's own funds and the operating amount shall be determined by future fund requirements for cash income and expenditures.

(5) Operating risk management

- 1. The Company's authorized amount and operating procedures shall be strictly followed and incorporated into internal auditing to prevent operating risks.
- 2. Personnel engaged in derivatives trading may not serve concurrently in other operations such as confirmation and settlement.
- 3. Risk measurement, monitoring, and control personnel shall be assigned to a different department that the personnel in the preceding subparagraph and shall report to the Board of Directors or senior management personnel with no responsibility for trading or position decision-making.
- 4. Derivatives trading positions held shall be evaluated at least once per week; however, positions for hedge trades required by business shall be evaluated at least twice per month. Evaluation reports shall be submitted to senior management personnel authorized by the Board of Directors.

(6) Product risk management

Internal transaction personnel are required to have comprehensive and correct expert knowledge on financial products and request banks to fully disclose risks to prevent the risks generated by financial products.

(7) Legal risk management:

Documents established with financial institutions shall be inspected by foreign exchange before signature to prevent legal risks.

3) Internal auditing system

Internal auditing personnel shall periodically study the appropriateness of internal control of derivatives transactions and conduct monthly inspections on the compliance of procedures of departments trading derivatives in order to analyze transaction cycles and formulate Audit Reports. In the event of major violations, the Supervisors shall be notified in writing.

4) Regular assessment methods

- (1) The Board of Directors shall authorize senior management personnel to conduct periodic supervision and evaluate whether derivatives transactions comply with the transaction procedures established by the Company and whether the undertaken risks are within the accepted range. If there are irregularities in the market price evaluation report (e.g. positions held exceed restrictions on losses), they shall be reported to the Board of Directors immediately to response measures shall be taken.
- (2) Derivatives trading positions held shall be evaluated at least once per week; however, positions for hedge trades required by business shall be evaluated at least twice per month. Evaluation reports shall be submitted to senior management personnel authorized by the Board of Directors.

5) Board of Directors supervision and management principles

- (1) The Board of Directors shall assign senior management personnel for the supervision and management of risks in derivatives transactions at all times. The management principles are as follows:
 - 1. Periodically evaluate whether the currently adopted risk management measures are appropriate and whether they have been carried out in accordance with the Procedures.

- 2. Supervise the transaction and profit/loss status; take necessary response measures if irregularities are found and immediately report to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors meeting shall be attended by Independent Directors who shall voice their opinions.
- (2) Periodically assess whether the performance of derivatives transactions meet established management strategies and whether the undertaken risks are within the range accepted by the Company.
- (3) When conducting derivatives transactions, the Company shall authorized related personnel in accordance with the regulations in the Procedures and report to the Board of Directors after the transactions.

6) Establishment of the log book

When the Company engages in derivatives trading, it shall establish a log book in which details of the types and amounts of derivatives trading engaged in, Board of Directors approval dates, and the matters required to be carefully evaluated under Paragraph 4, Subparagraph (2) and Paragraph 5, Subparagraphs (1) and (2) of the Article shall be recorded in detail in the log book.

Article 10 Procedures for the Handling of Mergers, Demergers, Acquisitions, or Transfer of Shares

1) Dates of the Board of Directors meeting and shareholders' meeting

A company participating in a merger, demerger, or acquisition shall convene a Board of Directors meeting and shareholders meeting on the day of the transaction to resolve matters relevant to the merger, demerger, or acquisition, unless otherwise stipulated by the law or the FSC is notified in advance of extraordinary circumstances and grants consent.

A company participating in a transfer of shares shall convene a Board of Directors meeting on the day of the transaction, unless otherwise stipulated by the law or the FSC is notified in advance of extraordinary circumstances and grants consent.

When the Company participates in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of another company's shares, it shall prepare a full written record of the following information and retain it for 5 years for reference.

- (1) Basic identification data for personnel: Including the occupational titles, names, and national ID numbers (or passport numbers in the case of foreign nationals) of all persons involved in the planning or implementation of any merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of another company's shares prior to disclosure of the information.
- (2) Dates of material events: Including the signing of any letter of intent or memorandum of understanding, the hiring of a financial or legal advisor, the execution of a contract, and the convening of a Board of Directors meeting.
- (3) Important documents and minutes: Including merger, demerger, acquisition, and share transfer plans, any letter of intent or memorandum of understanding, material contracts, and minutes of Board of Directors meetings.

When the Company participates in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of another company's shares, it shall, within 2 days commencing immediately from the date of passage of a resolution by the Board of Directors, report (in the prescribed format and via the Internet-based information system) the information set out in Subparagraphs 1 and 2 of the preceding paragraph to the FSC for record keeping.

Where any of the companies participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of another company's shares is neither listed on an exchange nor has its shares traded on an OTC market, the Company shall sign an agreement with such company whereby the latter is required to abide by the provisions in Paragraphs 3 and 4.

2) Advanced confidentiality commitment

All persons participating in or privy to the plan for merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares shall issue a written undertaking of confidentiality and may not disclose the content of the plan prior to public disclosure of the information and may not trade, in their own name or under the name of another person, in any stock or other equity security of any company related to the plan for merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares.

3) Principles for the establishment and changes of the share transfer ratio or acquisition price

A Company that conducts a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares shall, prior to convening the Board of Directors Meeting of the two parties, engage a CPA, attorney, or securities underwriter to give an opinion on the reasonableness of the share transfer ratio, acquisition price, or distribution of cash or other property to shareholders, and submit it to the Shareholders Meeting. In principle, the share transfer ratio or acquisition price may not be arbitrarily modified. This however shall not apply to changes in conditions that were specified in the contract and those that have been publicly disclosed. The conditions under which changes in the share transfer ratio or acquisition price are allowed are as follows:

- (1) Implementation of capital increase in cash or issuance of convertible corporate bonds, bonus shares, corporate bonds with warrants, preferred shares with warrants, stock warrants or other equity based securities.
- (2) Disposal of major Company assets or other activities which may influence the financial operations of the Company.
- (3) Significant events such as major disasters or material technological changes that affect Company shareholders' equity or share price.
- (4) Adjustments made by any of the participating companies of the merger, demerger, acquisition or transfer of shares due to the lawful buyback of treasury shares.
- (5) Changes in the entities or number of participating companies for the merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares.
- (6) Other changes in conditions that have been specified in the contract and have been publicly disclosed.
 - 4) Required contract provisions

The contract for participation by a public company in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or of shares shall record the following items in addition to provisions required by the Company Act and related regulations:

- (1) Handling of breach of contract.
- (2) Principles for the handling of equity-type securities previously issued or treasury shares previously bought back by any company that is extinguished in a merger or that is demerged.
- (3) The amount of treasury shares participating companies are permitted under law to buy back after the record date of calculation of the share transfer ratio, and the principles for handling thereof.
- (4) The manner of handling changes in the number of participating entities or companies.

- (5) Preliminary progress schedule for plan execution, and anticipated completion date.
- (6) Scheduled date for convening the legally mandated shareholders meeting if the plan exceeds the deadline without completion, and relevant procedures.
- 5) Changes in the number of companies participating in the merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer After public disclosure of the information, if any company participating in the merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer intends further to carry out a merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer with another company, all of the participating companies shall carry out anew the procedures or legal actions that had originally been completed toward the merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer; except where the number of participating companies is decreased and a participating company's shareholders meeting has adopted a resolution authorizing the Board of Directors to alter the limits of authority, such participating company may be exempted from convening another shareholders meeting to resolve on the matter anew.
- 6) Where any of the companies participating in a merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of another company's shares is not a publicly listed company, the Company shall sign an agreement with such company and the procedures shall be carried out in accordance with Paragraph 1 of this Article regarding the date of the Board of Directors meeting, Paragraph 2 regarding the advanced confidentiality commitment, and Paragraph 5 regarding changes in the number of companies participating in the merger, demerger, acquisition, or share transfer.

Article 11 Information Disclosure Procedures

- 1) If the following conditions occur in the Company's acquisition or disposal of assets, related information shall, in accordance with its nature and regulated format, be input on the Market Observation Post System within two days of the occurrence of the fact:
 - (1) Where the Company acquires or disposes of real estate from or to a related party, or acquires or disposes of assets other than real estate from or to a related party and the transaction amount reaches 20 percent or more of the Company's paid-in capital, 10 percent or more of the Company's total assets, or NT\$300 million or more. This requirement, however, shall not apply to the trading of government bonds or bonds under repurchase or resale agreements.
 - (2) Merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares.
 - (3) Derivative transactions that accumulate losses beyond the portfolio limits or individual limits specified in the Company's procedures.
 - (4) Asset transactions other than those referred to in the preceding three Subparagraphs, disposal of receivables by a financial institution, or an investment in the Mainland China region that reaches 20 percent or more of the Company's paid-in capital or NT\$300 million. The above shall however not apply to the following circumstances:
 - 1. Trade of government bonds.
 - 2. Trading of bonds under repurchase and resale agreements.
 - 3. Where the type of asset acquired or disposed is machinery or equipment for business use, the trading counterparty is not a related party, and the transaction amount is less than NT\$500 million.
 - 4. Where real estate is acquired under an arrangement on engaging others to build on the Company's own land, engaging others to build on rented land, joint construction and allocation of housing units, joint construction and

- allocation of ownership percentages, or joint construction and separate sale, and the amount the Company expects to invest in the transaction is less than NT\$500 million.
- (5) The "transaction amount" specified in Subparagraphs (1) to (4) shall be calculated as follows and the "within the preceding year" as used in the preceding paragraph refers to the year preceding the date of occurrence of the current transaction. Items duly announced in accordance with Regulations need not be counted toward the transaction amount.
 - 1. The amount of each individual transaction.
 - 2. The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals of the same type of underlying asset with the same trading counterparty within a year.
 - 3. The cumulative transaction amount of real estate acquisitions and disposals (cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) under the same development project within a year.
 - 4. The cumulative transaction amount of acquisitions and disposals (cumulative acquisitions and disposals, respectively) of the same security within a year.

The "within a year" as mentioned above shall refer to the one year dating back from the date of occurrence of the current transaction. Amounts that have already been announced in accordance with the Procedures may be excluded.

- 2) The Company shall input the derivatives transaction status of the Company and its subsidiaries that are not publicly listed companies in Taiwan from the previous month on the Market Observation Post System in accordance with the required format before the tenth day of each month.
- 3) Where the Company at the time of public announcement makes an error or omission in an item required by regulations to be publicly announced and as such is required to correct the item, all the items shall be again publicly announced and reported in their entirety.
- 4) When the Company acquires or disposes of assets, the related contracts, meeting minutes, log books, appraisal reports, certified public accountants opinions, attorney's opinions, or underwriter's opinions shall be stored at the Company for at least five years unless otherwise provided in other laws or regulations.
- 5) Where any of the following circumstances occurs with respect to a transaction that a public company has already publicly announced and reported in accordance with the preceding article, related information shall be input on the Market Observation Post System within two days starting from the date of the occurrence of the fact:
 - (1) Change, termination, or rescission of a contract signed in regard to the original transaction.
 - (2) The merger, demerger, acquisition, or transfer of shares is not completed by the scheduled date set forth in the contract.
 - (3) Change to the originally publicly announced and reported information.

Article 12 The Company's subsidiaries shall handle matters in accordance with the following provisions

- 1) The Company shall ensure that its subsidiaries establish the procedures for acquisition or disposal of assets in accordance with the nature of the subsidiary's business, business scale, and local regulations. The subsidiary company shall implement acquisition and disposal of assets in accordance with the procedures.
- 2) The Finance Department of the Company shall ensure that subsidiaries

independently verify whether the established operating procedures meet the "Regulations Governing the Acquisition and Disposal of Assets by Public Companies" and whether they comply with their established operating procedures when acquiring or disposing of assets.

- 3) The Company's Audit Office shall review the self-inspection reports filed by subsidiary companies.
- 4) Information that require public announcement and report according to the provisions of Article 12 of the Procedures on acquisitions and disposals of assets by a subsidiary that is not itself a public company shall be reported by the Company.
- 5) The Company's paid-in capital or total assets of the Company shall be the standard for determining whether or not a transaction of a subsidiary referred to in the requirement of a public announcement and regulatory filing reaches 20 percent of the Company's paid-in capital or 10 percent of the total assets.

Article 13: Penalties

In the event that an employee of the Company in charge of the acquisition and disposal of assets violates the provisions stipulated in the Procedures, the violation shall be submitted for periodic review in accordance with the Company's Personnel Management Regulations and the Employee Handbook and the employee shall be disciplined in accordance with the level of severity.

Article 14: Implementation and revision

The Company's "Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal of Assets" shall be delivered to the Supervisors following resolution in the Board of Directors meeting and submitted to the shareholders' meeting for approval. The same shall apply to any subsequent revisions. If a Director expresses objection and records or written statements are available, the Company shall submit information regarding the Director's objection to the respective Supervisors and the shareholders' are meeting for discussion. The same shall apply to any subsequent revisions. In addition, the opinions of Independent Directors shall be taken into full consideration in discussions in the Board of Directors meeting on the "Procedures for the Acquisition or Disposal of Assets" in accordance with the preceding paragraph. Their approval or objection and reasons shall be listed in the meeting minutes.

Article 15: Addendum

Issues not addressed in these Procedures shall be governed by applicable la ws and regulations and the opinion of the competent authority.

Brogent Technologies Inc. Guidelines for the Election of Directors and Supervisors

Article 1

To ensure the just, fair, and open election of Directors and Supervisors, these Procedures are established pursuant to Articles 21 and 41 of the "Corporate Governance Best Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies."

Article 2

Except as otherwise provided by law and regulation or by the Company's Articles of Incorporation, elections of Directors and Supervisors shall be conducted in accordance with these Procedures.

Article 3

The overall composition of the Board of Directors shall be taken into consideration in the nomination and election of the Company's Directors. Each Board Member shall have the necessary knowledge, skill, and experience to perform their duties; the abilities that must be present in the board as a whole are as follows:

- 1) Ability to make sound business judgments.
- 2) Ability to conduct accounting and financial analysis.
- 3) Business management ability.
- 4) Crisis management ability.
- 5) Knowledge of the industry.
- 6) An international market perspective.
- 7) Leadership ability.
- 8) Decision-making ability.

More than half of the Directors shall be persons who have neither a spousal relationship nor a relationship within the second degree of kinship with any other Director.

Article 4

Supervisors of the Company shall meet the following qualifications:

- 1) Integrity and pragmatism.
- 2) Impartial judgment.
- 3) Professional knowledge.
- 4) Broad experience.
- 5) Ability to read financial statements.

In addition to the requirements of the preceding paragraph, at least one individual from among the Supervisors of the Company must be an accounting or finance professional. Appointments of Supervisors shall be made with reference to the provisions on independence stipulated in the Regulations Governing Appointment of Independent Directors and Compliance Matters for Public Companies, so that appropriate Supervisors are selected to help strengthen the corporation's risk management and control of finance and operations.

At least one Supervisor position must be held by a person who has neither a spousal relationship nor a relationship within the second degree of kinship with any other Supervisor or with any Director.

A Supervisor may not serve concurrently as the Director, managerial officer, or any other employee of the Company, and at least one of the Supervisors must be domiciled in the Republic of China to be able to promptly perform supervisory duties.

Article 5

The qualifications for the Independent Directors of the Company shall comply with Articles 2, 3, and 4 of the "Regulations Governing Appointment of Independent Directors and Compliance Matters for Public Companies."

The nomination and election of Independent Directors of the Company shall be

conducted in accordance with Articles 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of the "Regulations Governing Appointment of Independent Directors and Compliance Matters for Public Companies,"

and shall be conducted in accordance with Article 24 of the "Corporate Governance Best Practice

Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies."

Article 6

Elections of both the Company's Directors and Supervisors shall be conducted in accordance with

the candidate nomination system and procedures set out in Article 192-1 of the Company Act.

When the number of Directors falls below five due to the dismissal of a Director for any reason, the Company shall hold a by-election to fill the vacancy at its next shareholders meeting. When the number of Directors falls

short by one third of the total number prescribed in the Company's Articles of Incorporation, the Company shall convene an extraordinary shareholders meeting within 60 days from the date of occurrence

to hold a by-election to fill the vacancies.

When the number of Independent Directors falls below that required under the provisions of Article 14-2, Paragraph 1 of the Securities and Exchange Act, or the related provisions of the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation's rules

Rules Governing Review of Securities Listings, or Subparagraph 8 of the "Standards for Determining Unsuitability for TPEx Listing under

Article 10, Paragraph 1 of the Rules Governing the Review of Securities for Trading on the Taipei Exchange,"

a by-election shall be held at the next shareholders meeting to fill the vacancy. When the Independent Directors are dismissed en masse, an extraordinary shareholders meeting shall be convened within 60 days from the date of occurrence

to hold a by-election to fill the vacancies.

When the number of Supervisors falls below that prescribed in the Company's Articles of Incorporation due to the dismissal of a Supervisor for any reason, a by-election to fill the vacancy should ideally be held at the next shareholders meeting

. When all Supervisors are dismissed, an extraordinary shareholders meeting shall be convened within 60 days from the date of occurrence to hold a by-election

to fill the vacancies.

Article 7

The Company's Directors and Supervisors are elected using the single cumulative voting method. Every share is vested with voting rights that is equivalent to the number of

Directors and Supervisors to be elected. The votes can be concentrated on one candidate or distributed among several candidates.

Article 8

The Board of Directors shall prepare separate ballots for Directors and Supervisors in numbers corresponding to the Directors or Supervisors to be elected. The number of voting rights associated with each ballot shall be specified on the ballots, which shall then be

distributed to the attending shareholders at the shareholders meeting. Attendance pass numbers printed on the ballots may be used instead of recording the names of voting shareholders.

Article 9

The number of Directors and Supervisors will be as specified in the Company's Articles of Incorporation, with voting rights separately calculated for Independent and non-Independent Director

positions. Those receiving ballots representing the highest numbers of voting rights will

be elected sequentially according to their respective numbers of votes. When two or more persons

receive the same number of votes, thus exceeding the specified number of positions, lots shall be drawn to determine the winner; the chair shall draw lots

on behalf of any person not in attendance.

Article 10

Before the election begins, the chair shall appoint a number of persons with shareholder status to perform the respective duties of vote monitoring and

counting personnel. The ballot boxes shall be prepared by the Board of Directors and publicly checked by the vote monitoring personnel before voting commences.

Article 11

If a candidate is a shareholder, a voter must enter the candidate's account name and shareholder account number in the "candidate" column of the ballot; for a non-shareholder, the voter shall enter the candidate's full name and personal identification document number.

However, when the candidate is a governmental organization or juristic-person shareholder, the name of the governmental organization or

juristic-person shareholder shall be entered in the column for the candidate's account name in the ballot paper, or both the name of the governmental organization or juristic-person shareholder and the name of its representative may be entered. When there are multiple representatives,

the names of each respective representative shall be entered.

Article 12

A ballot is invalid under any of the following circumstances:

- 1) The ballot was not prepared by the Board of Directors.
- 2) A blank ballot is placed in the ballot box.
- 3) The writing is unclear and indecipherable or has been altered.
- 4) The candidate whose name is entered in the ballot is a shareholder, but the candidate's account name and shareholder account number do not conform with those given in the shareholder register, or the candidate whose name is entered in the ballot is a non-shareholder, and a cross-check shows that the candidate's name and identity card number do not match.
- 5) Other words or marks are entered in addition to the candidate's account name or shareholder account number (or identity card number) and the number of voting rights allotted.
- 6) The name of the candidate entered in the ballot is identical to that of another shareholder, but no shareholder account number or identity card number is provided in the ballot to identify such individual.

Article 13

The voting rights shall be calculated on site immediately after the end of the poll, and the results of the calculation, the chair shall announce the list of persons elected as Directors or Supervisors on the site.

Article 14

The Board of Directors of the Company shall issue notifications to the persons elected as Directors or Supervisors.

Article 15

These Procedures, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented after approval by a shareholders meeting.

Brogent Technologies Inc. Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings

Article 1 To establish a strong governance system and sound supervisory capabilities for the Company's shareholders meetings, and to strengthen management capabilities, these Rules are adopted pursuant to Article 5 of the Corporate Governance Best Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies.

Article 2 The Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings of the Company, except as otherwise provided by law, regulation, or the Articles of Incorporation, shall be as provided in these Rules.

The shareholder referred to in the Rules shall mean the shareholder or the proxy appointed by the shareholder to attend meetings on his/her behalf.

Article 3 Unless otherwise provided by law or regulation, the Company's shareholders meetings shall be convened by the Board of Directors.

The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the shareholders meeting notice and proxy forms, and the origins of and explanatory materials relating to all proposals, including proposals for ratification, matters for deliberation, or the election or dismissal of Directors or Supervisors, and upload them to the Market Observation Post System (MOPS) at least 30 days before the date of a annual shareholders meeting or at least 15 days before the date of an extraordinary shareholders meeting. The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the shareholders meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials and upload them to the MOPS at least 21 days before the date of the annual shareholders meeting or at least 15 days before the date of the extraordinary shareholders meeting. In addition, at least 15 days before the date of the shareholders meeting, the Company shall also have prepared the shareholders meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials and made them available for review by shareholders at any time. The meeting agenda and supplemental materials shall also be displayed at the Company and the professional shareholder services agent designated thereby as well as being distributed on-site at the meeting place.

The reasons for convening a shareholders meeting shall be specified in the meeting notice and public announcement. With the consent of the addressee, the meeting notice may be given in electronic form.

Election or dismissal of Directors or Supervisors, amendments to the Articles of Incorporation, the dissolution, merger, or demerger of the Company, or any matter under Article 185, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act, and Articles 26-1 and 43-6 of the Securities and Exchange Act shall be set out in the notice of the reasons for convening the shareholders meeting. None of the above matters may be raised through an extempore motion.

Shareholder(s) holding one percent (1%) or more of the total number of outstanding shares of the Company may submit a written proposal for discussion at an annual shareholders' meeting. Such proposals, however, are limited to one item only, and no proposal containing more than one item will be included in the meeting agenda. In addition, when the circumstances of any Subparagraph of Article 172-1, Paragraph 4 of the Company Act apply to a proposal submitted by a shareholder, the Board of Directors may exclude it from the agenda.

Prior to the book closure date before a regular shareholders meeting is held, the

Company shall publicly announce that it will receive shareholder proposals, and the location and time period for their submission; the period for submission of shareholder proposals may not be less than 10 days.

Shareholder-submitted proposals are limited to 300 words, and no proposal containing more than 300 words will be included in the meeting agenda. The shareholder making the proposal shall be present in person or by proxy at the annual shareholders meeting and take part in discussion of the proposal.

Prior to the date for issuance of notice of a shareholders meeting, the Company shall inform the shareholders who submitted proposals of the proposal screening results, and shall list in the meeting notice the proposals that conform to the provisions of this Article. At the shareholders meeting the Board of Directors shall explain the reasons for exclusion of any shareholder proposals not included in the agenda.

Article 4 If a shareholder is unable to attend the shareholders' meeting in person, a proxy can be appointed by completing the Company's proxy form and by specifying the scope of delegated authority.

A shareholder may issue only one proxy form and appoint only one proxy for any given shareholders meeting, and shall deliver the proxy form to the Company at least 5 days before the date of the shareholders meeting. When duplicate proxy forms are delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail. unless a declaration is made to cancel the previous proxy appointment.

After a proxy form has been delivered to the Company, if the shareholder intends to attend the meeting in person or to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronically, a written notice of proxy cancellation shall be submitted to the Company at least 2 days before the meeting date. If the cancellation notice is submitted after that time, votes cast at the meeting by the proxy shall prevail.

- Article 5 The venue for a shareholders meeting shall be the premises of the Company, or a place easily accessible to shareholders and suitable for a shareholders meeting. The meeting may begin no earlier than 9AM and no later than 3PM.
- Article 6 The Company shall specify in its shareholders meeting notices the time during which shareholder attendance registrations will be accepted, the place to register for attendance, and other matters of attention.

The time during which shareholder attendance registrations will be accepted, as stated in the preceding paragraph, shall be at least 30 minutes prior to the time the meeting commences. The place at which attendance registrations are accepted shall be clearly marked and a sufficient number of suitable personnel shall be assigned to handle the registrations.

Shareholders and their proxies (collectively, "shareholders") shall attend shareholders meetings upon presentation of attendance passes, registration cards, or other proof of attendance. Solicitors soliciting proxy forms shall also bring personal identification documents for verification.

The Company shall furnish the attending shareholders with an attendance book to sign, or attending shareholders may hand in a registration card in lieu of signing in. The Company shall furnish attending shareholders with the proceedings manual, annual report, attendance pass, speaker's slips, voting slips, and other meeting materials. Where there is an election of Directors or Supervisors, pre-printed ballots shall also be furnished.

When the government or a juristic person is a shareholder, it may be represented by more than one representative at a shareholders meeting. When a juristic person is

appointed to attend as proxy, it may designate only one person to represent it in the meeting.

Article 7 Shareholders' meetings that are convened by the Board of Directors shall be chaired by the Chairperson. If the Chairperson is unable to perform such duties due to leave of absence or any reason, the Vice Chairperson shall act on the Chairperson's behalf. If the Vice Chairperson is also unavailable, the Chairperson may appoint the Managing Director to act on behalf. If the Company does not have a Managing Director, one of the Directors shall be appointed to act on behalf; where no delegate has been appointed, the Managing Director or the one appointed among the remaining Directors shall act on the Chairperson's behalf.

When a Managing Director or a Director serves as chair, as referred to in the preceding paragraph, the Managing Director or Director shall be one who has held that position for six months or more and who understands the financial and business conditions of the Company. The same shall be true for a representative of a juristic person director that serves as chair.

It is advisable that shareholders meetings convened by the Board of Directors be attended by a majority of the Directors.

For shareholders' meetings convened by any authorized party other than the Board of Directors, the convener will act as the meeting Chairperson. If there are two or more conveners at the same time, one shall be appointed among themselves to chair the meeting.

The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public accountants, or related persons retained by it to attend a shareholders meeting in a non-voting capacity.

Article 8 The Company, beginning from the time it accepts shareholder attendance registrations, shall make an uninterrupted audio and video recording of the registration procedure, the proceedings of the shareholders meeting, and the voting and vote counting procedures.

The recorded audio-visual materials of the preceding paragraph shall be retained for at least 1 year. However, if a shareholder makes a litigious claim against the Company according to Article 189 of the Company Act, the abovementioned documents must be retained until the end of the litigation.

Article 9 Attendance at shareholders meetings shall be calculated based on numbers of shares. The number of shares in attendance shall be calculated according to the shares indicated by the attendance book and registration cards handed in plus the number of shares whose voting rights are exercised by correspondence or electronically. The chair shall call the meeting to order at the appointed meeting time. However, when the attending shareholders do not represent a majority of the total number of issued shares, the chair may announce a postponement, provided that no more than two such postponements, for a combined total of no more than 1 hour, may be made. If the quorum is not met after two postponements and the attending shareholders still represent less than one third of the total number of issued shares, the chair shall declare the meeting adjourned.

If the quorum is not met after two postponements as referred to in the preceding paragraph, but the attending shareholders represent one third or more of the total number of issued shares, a tentative resolution may be adopted pursuant to Article 175, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act; all shareholders shall be notified of the tentative resolution and another shareholders meeting shall be convened within 1 month.

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting, the attending shareholders represent a majority of the total number of issued shares, the chair may resubmit the tentative resolution for a vote by the shareholders meeting pursuant to Article 174 of the Company Act.

Article 10 If a shareholders meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the meeting agenda shall be set by the Board of Directors. The meeting shall proceed in the order set by the agenda, which may not be changed without a resolution of the shareholders meeting.

The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis to a shareholders meeting convened by a party with the power to convene that is not the Board of Directors.

The chair may not declare the meeting adjourned prior to completion of deliberation on the meeting agenda of the preceding two paragraphs (including extempore motions), except by a resolution of the shareholders meeting. If the chair declares the meeting adjourned in violation of the rules of procedure, the other members of the Board of Directors shall promptly assist the attending shareholders in electing a new chair in accordance with statutory procedures, by agreement of a majority of the votes represented by the attending shareholders, and then continue the meeting. The chair shall allow ample opportunity during the meeting for explanation and discussion of proposals and of amendments or extempore motions put forward by the shareholders; when the chair is of the opinion that a proposal has been discussed sufficiently to put it to a vote, the chair may announce the discussion closed and call for a vote.

Article 11 Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a speaker's slip the subject of the speech, his/her shareholder account number (or attendance pass number), and account name. The order in which shareholders speak will be set by the chair.

A shareholder in attendance who has submitted a speaker's slip but does not actually speak shall be deemed to have not spoken. When the content of the speech does not correspond to the subject given on the speaker's slip, the spoken content shall prevail.

Except with the consent of the chair, a shareholder may not speak more than twice on the same proposal, and a single speech may not exceed 5 minutes. If the shareholder's speech violates the rules or exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the chair may terminate the speech.

When an attending shareholder is speaking, other shareholders may not speak or interrupt unless they have sought and obtained the consent of the chair and the shareholder that has the floor; the chair shall stop any violation.

When a juristic person shareholder appoints two or more representatives to attend a shareholders meeting, only one of the representatives so appointed may speak on the same proposal.

After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chair may respond in person or direct relevant personnel to respond.

Article 12 Voting at a shareholders meeting shall be calculated based the number of shares. With respect to resolutions of shareholders meetings, the number of shares held by a shareholder with no voting rights shall not be calculated as part of the total number of issued shares.

When a shareholder is an interested party in relation to an agenda item, and there is the likelihood that such a relationship would prejudice the interests of the

Company, that shareholder may not vote on that item, and may not exercise voting rights as proxy for any other shareholder.

The number of shares for which voting rights may not be exercised under the preceding paragraph shall not be calculated as part of the voting rights represented by attending shareholders.

With the exception of trust enterprises and certain share administration agencies approved by the competent authority, a proxy may not represent more than 3% of total voting rights when representing two or more shareholders at a time. Voting rights that exceed this threshold shall be excluded.

Article 13 Shareholders shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, except when the shares are restricted shares or are deemed non-voting shares under Article 179, Paragraph 2 of the Company Act.

When the Company holds a shareholders meeting, it may allow the shareholders to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronic means (in accordance with the provisions of Article 177-1, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act regarding companies that shall adopt electronic voting: When the Company holds a shareholder meeting, it shall adopt exercise of voting rights by electronic means and may adopt exercise of voting rights by correspondence). When voting rights are exercised by correspondence or electronic means, the method of exercise shall be specified in the shareholders meeting notice. A shareholder exercising voting rights by correspondence or electronic means will be deemed to have attended the meeting in person, but to have waived his/her rights with respect to the extempore motions and amendments to original proposals of that meeting; it is therefore advisable that the Company avoid the submission of extempore motions and amendments to original proposals.

A shareholder intending to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronic means under the preceding paragraph shall deliver a written declaration of intent to the Company at least 2 days before the date of the shareholders meeting. When duplicate declarations of intent are delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail, except when a declaration is made to cancel the earlier declaration of intent.

After a shareholder has exercised voting rights by correspondence or electronic means, in the event the shareholder intends to attend the shareholders meeting in person, a written declaration of intent to retract the voting rights already exercised under the preceding paragraph shall be made known to the Company, by the same means by which the voting rights were exercised, at least 2 days before the date of the shareholders meeting. If the notice of retraction is submitted after that time, the voting rights already exercised by correspondence or electronic means shall prevail. When a shareholder has exercised voting rights both by correspondence or electronic means and by appointing a proxy to attend a shareholders meeting, the voting rights exercised by the proxy in the meeting shall prevail. Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the Company's Articles of Incorporation, the resolution of a proposal shall require an affirmative majority of the voting rights represented by attending shareholders. At the time of a vote, for each proposal, the chair or a person designated by the chair shall first announce the total number of voting rights represented by the attending shareholders. A proposal shall be deemed as passed after the chair has inquired all attending shareholders and no shareholders have voiced an objection. The results shall have the same validity as voting. If there are any objections, a vote shall be called in accordance with regulations in the preceding paragraph for the decision. With the

exception of proposals listed on the agenda, other proposals submitted by shareholders or the amended or alternative versions of the original proposal shall require endorsement of other shareholders. The shares represented by the person submitting the proposal and the shareholders that endorsed the proposal is required to exceed one percent (1%) of all voting rights of issued shares.

In case there are any amendments or alternative solutions for the same proposal, the chair shall combine these amendments/alternative solutions with the original proposal and decide their priority for voting. In case one of these cases has already been resolved, the other cases shall be considered rejected. No further voting shall be required.

The chair shall appoint personnel to monitor or count the votes. The individuals monitoring the votes, however, shall be the shareholders of the Company. Vote counting for shareholders meeting proposals or elections shall be conducted in public at the place of the shareholders meeting. Immediately after vote counting has been completed, the results of the voting, including the statistical tallies of the numbers of votes, shall be announced on-site at the meeting, and a record made of the vote.

Article 14 The election of Directors or Supervisors at a shareholders meeting shall be held in accordance with the applicable election and appointment rules adopted by the Company, and the voting results shall be announced on-site immediately, including the names of those elected as Directors and Supervisors and the numbers of votes with which they were elected.

The ballots for the election referred to in the preceding paragraph shall be sealed with the signatures of the monitoring personnel and kept in proper custody for at least 1 year. However, if a shareholder makes a litigious claim against the Company according to Article 189 of the Company Act, the abovementioned documents must be retained until the end of the litigation.

Article 15 Matters relating to the resolutions of a shareholders meeting shall be recorded in the meeting minutes. The meeting minutes shall be signed or sealed by the chair of the meeting and a copy distributed to each shareholder within 20 days after the conclusion of the meeting. The meeting minutes may be produced and distributed in electronic form.

The Company may distribute the meeting minutes of the preceding paragraph by means of a public announcement made through the MOPS.

The meeting minutes shall accurately record the year, month, day, and place of the meeting, the chair's full name, the methods by which resolutions were adopted, and a summary of the deliberations and their results, and shall be retained for the duration of the existence of the Company.

A proposal passed via the resolution method in the preceding paragraph shall be recorded as "passed unanimously after the chair inquires the all shareholders in attendance" after the chair has inquired all attending shareholders and no shareholders have voiced an objection; however, if a shareholder voiced an objection to the proposal, the method of voting, the approval voting rights, and the voting rights ratio shall be recorded.

Article 16 On the day of a shareholders meeting, the Company shall compile in the prescribed format a statistical statement of the number of shares obtained by solicitors through solicitation and the number of shares represented by proxies, and shall make an express disclosure of the same at the place of the shareholders meeting.

If matters put to a resolution at a shareholders meeting constitute material information under applicable laws or regulations or under Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (or Taipei Exchange) regulations, the Company shall upload the content of such resolution to the MOPS within the prescribed time period.

Article 17 Staff handling administrative affairs of a shareholders meeting shall wear identification cards or arm bands.

The chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to help maintain order at the meeting place. When proctors or security personnel help maintain order at the meeting place, they shall wear an identification card or armband bearing the word "Proctor."

At the place of a shareholders meeting, if a shareholder attempts to speak through any device other than the public address equipment set up by the Company, the chair may prevent the shareholder from so doing.

When a shareholder violates the rules of procedure and defies the chair's correction, obstructing the proceedings and refusing to heed calls to stop, the chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to escort the shareholder from the meeting.

Article 18 When a meeting is in progress, the chair may announce a break based on time considerations. If a force majeure event occurs, the chair may rule the meeting temporarily suspended and announce a time when, in view of the circumstances, the meeting will be resumed.

If the meeting venue is no longer available for continued use and not all of the items (including extempore motions) on the meeting agenda have been addressed, the shareholders meeting may adopt a resolution to resume the meeting at another venue.

A resolution may be adopted at a shareholders meeting to defer or resume the meeting within 5 days in accordance with Article 182 of the Company Act.

Article 19 These Rules, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented after adoption by shareholders meetings.

Brogent Technologies Inc.

Shareholding Status of Directors and Supervisors

- 1) The Company's paid-in capital is NT\$446,779,770, a total number of 44,677,977 shares have been issued.
- 2) According to Article 26 of the Securities and Exchange Act, the total amount of shares held by the entire body of Directors or Supervisors shall not be less than the following number of shares:
 - Amount of shares legally required to be held by all Directors (15%): 3,600,000 shares.
 - Amount of shares legally required to be held by all Supervisors (1.5%): 360,000 shares.

According to Article 2 of the "Rules and Review Procedures for Director and Supervisor Share Ownership Ratios at Public Companies," if a public company has elected two or more Independent Directors, the share ownership figures calculated at the rates set forth in the preceding paragraph for all Directors and Supervisors other than the Independent Directors and shall be decreased by 20 percent.

3) The shares held by individual shareholders, all Directors and Supervisors as of the book closure date of this shareholders meeting (April 2, 2017) are shown in the table below. The number of shares has reached the amount required by the Securities and Exchange Act.

	hares has reached the		ieu oj uio	Number of shares held as recorded	
Title	Name	Date elected	Term (Year)	in the List of Shareholders on the	
				book closure date	
				Shares	Percentage of
					currently issued
					shares
Chairperson	Chung-Ming Huang	2014.06.11	3	2,381,654	5.33
Director	Chih-Hung Ouyang	2014.06.11	3	2,822,581	6.32
Director	Chin-Huo Huang	2014.06.11	3	912,256	2.04
Director	Chun-Hao Cheng	2016.05.31	3	125,781	0.28
Director	Chih-Chuan Chen, representative of Changchun Investment Co., Ltd.	2016.05.31	3	1,706,565	3.82
Independent Director	Yi-Hsiang Huang	2014.06.11	3	0	0
Independent Director	Shun-Jen Cheng	2014.06.11	3	0	0
Shareholdings of all directors				7,948,837	17.79
Supervisor	Chun-Nan Chen	2014.06.11	3	885,426	1.98
Supervisor	Yung-Liang Huang	2014.06.11	3	1,050,466	2.35
Shareholdings of all supervisors				1,935,892	4.33